ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
333 WEST WASHINGTON STREET, SUITE 130, SYRACUSE, NY 13202
PHONE: 315.435.3770  FAX: 315.435.3669  SYRACUSECENTRAL.COM

MEETING AGENDA
OCDC 2019 Annual Meeting Agenda
8:35 a.m. Office of Economic Development Conference Room
March 14, 2019
8:35 a.m. Call to Order
A. Approval of 2018 OCDC Annual meeting minutes
Action Items
1. Election of Officers
Board Action Requested: A Resolution appointing the Officers of the Corporation as follows:








Robert Petrovich, Interim President/CEO
Brian M. Bartlett, Secretary/Public Hearing Officer
Nate Stevens, Treasurer/CFO
Christopher Cox, Assistant Treasurer
Karen Doster, Recording Secretary
Robert Petrovich, Interim Freedom of Information Act Officer
Matthew Marko, Freedom of Information Act Appeals Officer

Representative: Brian M. Bartlett, Secretary
2. Approval of Committee Members
Board Action Requested: A Resolution appointing committee members of the Corporation as
follows:
Audit Committee:
 Michael LaFlair, Chair
 Alison Miller
 Matthew Marko
Finance Committee:




Alison Miller, Chair
Gerald Albrigo
James W. Jordan

Governance Committee:




Matthew Marko, Chair
Gerald Albrigo
James W. Jordan

Representative: Brian M. Bartlett, Secretary

3. Review and Approve 2018 Annual Audit
Board Action Requested: A Resolution approving the 2018 Audit of the Corporation.
Representative: Mike Lisson, Grossman St. Amour CPAs PLLC
4. Review and Approve 2018 Annual Report
Agency Action Requested: A Resolution approving the 2018 Annual Report of the Corporation
Representative: Brian M. Bartlett, Secretary
5. Review/Approve Governance Committee Report
The Committee will present the Governance Committee Report to the Corporation.
Board Action Requested: A Resolution accepting the report of the Governance Committee.
Representative: Matthew Marko, Chairman Governance Committee, OCDC

ADJOURN
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ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Annual Meeting Minutes
March 8, 2018

The Annual meeting of the Onondaga Civic Development Corporation was held on Thursday,
March 8, 2018 333 West Washington Street, Syracuse, New York, 13202, in the large
conference room on the first floor.
Ben Dublin called the meeting to order at 8:18 am with the following:
PRESENT:
Ben Dublin
Michael LaFlair
Dennis Duval
Alison Miller
Matt Marko
ABSENT:
Ravi Raman
ALSO PRESENT:
Julie Cerio,
Brian Bartlett, Secretary
Nate Stevens, Treasurer
Karen Doster, Recording Secretary
Christopher Andreucci, Harris Beach
Mike Lisson, Grossman St. Amour, CPAs
Ken Bush, Onondaga County Legislature
APPROVAL OF ANNUAL MEETING MINUTES – MARCH 28, 2017
Upon a motion by Alison Miller, seconded by Dennis Duval, the OCDC Board approved the
regular meeting minutes of March 28, 2017. Motion was carried unanimously.

ELECTION OF OFFICERS
Upon a motion by Michael LaFlair, seconded by Dennis Duval, the OCDC Board approved a
resolution appointing the Officers of the Corporation as follows: Julie Cerio-President/CEO,
Brian M. Bartlett-Secretary, Nathaniel Stevens-Treasurer/CFO, Christopher Cox-Assistant
Treasurer, Karen Doster-Recording Secretary, Julie Cerio-Freedom of Information Act Officer,
Benjamin Dublin-Freedom of Information Act Appeals Officer an Brian M. Bartlett-Public
Hearing Officer. Motion was carried unanimously.
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APPROVAL OF COMMITTEE MEMBERS
Upon a motion by Alison Miller, seconded by Dennis Duval, the OCDC Board approved a
resolution appoint committee members of the Corporation as follows: Audit Committee-Dennis
Duval (Chair), Benjamin Dublin and Michael LaFlair; Finance Committee-Alison Miller (Chair),
Ravi Raman and Benjamin Dublin; Governance Committee-Matthew Marko (Chair), Michael
LaFlair and Benjamin Dublin. Motion was carried unanimously.

REVIEW AND APPROVE 2017 ANNUAL AUDIT
Mike Lisson stated the audit went well with a clean audit opinion. He stated there were no issues
and no material weakness in controls. He stated the process procedures are working effectively.
He stated there was not a lot of activity this past year and revenue is relatively flat. He stated a
couple of parcels of land were sold at the airpark. He stated only $500 came in from applications
from OCDC’s primary operations. He stated there was $95,000 paid out in service contracts
with SMG being the majority and consistent with last year. He stated he has no issues or
concerns. He stated the biggest thing management is going to look at is a couple outstanding
notes receivable that are past due.
Matthew Marko asked what are the notes that are past due. Chris Andreucci stated Light for Life
and Sly Technologies. He stated they are significantly past due.
Matthew Marko asked when we entered into the agreements. Chris Andreucci stated 2015. He
stated we are a participant but we don’t direct the collection or do the enforcement. He stated
Peggy Adams is driving that; they have hired counsel and working through the process. He
stated they have issued demand notes.

Upon a motion by Dennis Duval, seconded by Michael LaFlair, the OCDC Board approved a
resolution accepting the 2017 Annual Audit of the Onondaga Civic Development Corporation.
Motion was carried unanimously.
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REVIEW AND APPROVE 2017 ANNUAL REPORT
Brian Bartlett stated there were 3 service contracts and 1 bond application.
Upon a motion by Matthew Marko, seconded by Michael LaFlair, the OCDC Board approved a
resolution accepting the 2017 Annual Report of the Onondaga Civic Development Corporation.
Motion was carried unanimously.

REVIEW/APPROVE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE REPORT
Julie Cerio stated there were no changes.
Upon a motion by Michael LaFlair, seconded by Matthew Marko, the OCDC Board approved a
resolution accepting the report of the Governance Committee. Motion was carried unanimously.

Upon a motion by Michael LaFlair, seconded by Dennis Duval, the OCDC Board adjourned the
meeting at 8:24 am. Motion was carried unanimously.

__________________________________
Brian M. Bartlett, Secretary
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Michael Lisson, CPA,CITP Partner
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Agenda
• REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS
• ANNUAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
– FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
– INVESTMENT POLICY COMPLIANCE
– REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL & OTHER
COMPLIANCE

• OTHER INFORMATION

Required Communications
• Required by Generally Accepted Governmental
Auditing Standards (GAGAS)
• AU‐C Section 260, The Auditor’s Communication
with Those Charged with Governance
• Those Charged with Governance
– Responsible for overseeing strategic direction of entity
– Responsible for obligations related to accountability
– Oversees the financial reporting process, including
internal controls
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Audit Reports
• Qualitative aspects of accounting practices
– Note 1 to financials describes significant accounting
practices
– Financials and notes are fairly consistent with prior
year and are fairly presented.

• Difficulties encountered in performing the audit
– None. Management is well prepared and was
extremely helpful in assisting and preparing
information for the audit

• Corrected and uncorrected misstatements
– A few minor entries related to depreciation expense
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Required Communications (continued)
• Disagreements with management
– None to report

• Management Representations
– Letter dated March 14, 2019

• Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants
– No consultations have been noted

• Compliance with All Ethics Requirements regarding independence
– Appropriate safeguards applied to eliminate/reduce identified threats
to independence, primarily related to non‐audit services provided,
which include the preparation of the financial statements, preparation
of IRS Form 990 / NYS Form CHAR500

• Planned Scope and Timing
– No significant changes to scope or timing previously communicated
with you Other Audit Findings or Issues
– None to report
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Annual Financial Information
• Financial Statements
– Unmodified (“clean”) audit opinion (pgs 1‐3)
– Management’s Discussion and Analysis (pgs 4‐7)
– Statements of Net Position (pg 8)
– Statements of Activities & Changes in Net
Position(pg 9)
– Statements of Cash Flows (pg 10)
– Notes to financial statements (pgs 11‐19)
– Supplemental Information (pgs 20‐25)
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Annual Financial Information
Net Position Summary
Net Position
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Accounts receivable and prepaid rent
Loan receivable, net
Capital assets, net
Total assets
Due to Onondaga County Office of Economic Development
Due to Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency
Accounts payable

2018
570,581

$

2017
968,152

31,414

252

140,473

15,473

8,917

1,776

$

751,385

$

985,653

$

32,854
114,916
3,482

$

68,805
128,295
10,244

Deposit Payable

2,000

2,000

Total liabilities

$

153,252

$

209,344

Net position

$

598,133

$

776,309
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Annual Financial Information
Change in Net Position Summary
Change in Net Position
2018
Revenue and other support:
Project fees
Application fees
Interest income
Rental income
Rental income, related party
Sale of property
Other investment income
Other income ‐ pass through
Miscellaneous
Total revenue and other support

$

124,725
1,000
3,889
45,170
58,881
22,298
87
162
3,204
259,416

2017
$

‐
500
11,075
45,840
‐
41,723
59,242
14,914
1,601
174,895
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Annual Financial Information
Change in Net Position Summary
Expenses
Expenses:
Service contracts
Onondaga County Office of Economic Development
Rent, parking, utilities
Professional services
Marketing
Insurance
Repairs, maintenance and site preparation
Depreciation
Travel, meetings and conferences
Office expenses
Other expenses ‐ pass through
Bank and other fees
Miscellaneous
Total expenses
Change in net position
Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

$

167,300
64,922
122,533
47,886
149
2,077
21,654
921
‐
8,105
162
144
1,739
437,592
(178,176)
774,809
596,633

$

95,000
84,753
124,575
24,465
1,321
4,295
46,478
9,128
100
4,567
14,914
70
1,180
410,846
(235,951)
1,010,760
774,809
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Annual Financial Information
Financial Highlights
•

•
•
•

Total assets decreased $234,268, primarily from cash decreasing $397,571
offset by an increase in loan receivables of $125,000. Cash used in operations
was $264,509, which included $167,300 of service contracts (an increase of
$72,300 compared to prior year) and a $125,000 loan disbursed to the GSDC.
The $125,000 will be repaid once grant funding is received from recipient.
Project fees of $124,725 in 2018 compared to $0 in 2017. Fees earned from
the LeMoyne College 2018 series bonds issued in 2018.
$58,881 of rental income from Onondaga County Industrial Development
Agency for a portion of the leased space
Service contracts totaled $167,300; contracts include:







$67,500 Greater Syracuse Soundstage Development Corporation
$33,000 Syracuse Studios LLC
$20,000 Ad Films, LLC
$20,000 Priscilla Mahar Animal Welfare Foundation
$19,300 FOCUS Greater Syracuse
$7,500 Hack Upstate LLC
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Annual Financial Information
(continued)
• Investment Policy Compliance
– Required by NYS Public Authorities Law section 2925
• Note the updated report compared to the previous year, due to Authorities Budget
Office policy No. 18‐02

– No non‐compliance matters noted or identified

• Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
and on Compliance and Other Matters
– No material weaknesses or non‐compliance matters noted

• Other Regulatory filings
– IRS Form 990 (return of organization exempt from income tax)
– NYS CHAR 500 (annual filing for charitable organizations)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors
Onondaga Civic Development Corporation
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business‐type activities of the Onondaga Civic
Development Corporation, a component unit of the County of Onondaga, New York as of and for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
Corporation’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the business‐type activities of the Onondaga Civic Development Corporation, as of December
31, 2018 and 2017, and the respective changes in financial position and, cash flows thereof for the years then
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis on pages 4 through 6 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the
basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Information
Our audit was conducted for the purposes of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the Onondaga Civic Development Corporation's basic financial statements. The combining statement of
net position, combining statement of activities and changes in net position and combining statement of cash
flows‐proprietary fund are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic
financial statements.
The combining statement of net position as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, combining statement of activities
and changes in net position and combining statement of cash flows‐proprietary fund for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017 are the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves,
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opinion, the combining statement of net position as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, combining
statement of activities and changes in net position and combining statement of cash flows‐proprietary fund for
the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic
financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 12, 2019, on our
consideration of the Onondaga Civic Development Corporation internal control over financial reporting and on
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

Syracuse, New York
March 12, 2019

ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Management's Discussion and Analysis (unaudited)
As management of the Onondaga Civic Development Corporation (“OCDC”), we offer readers of this Corporation’s
financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the Corporation for the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in
conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in the financial statements.
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
 OCDC primarily receives revenues from project and application fees. During 2018 there was one project fee of
$124,725 from the LeMoyne College Project series 2018 bonds issued by the Corporation compared to no
project fees in 2017. OCDC also received monies related to its management of the Hancock Airpark whereby
rental income of $45,170 was earned and a parcel sale resulted in income of $22,298.


The Corporation had six service agreement payments with various organizations in Onondaga County
totaling $167,300 in 2018. Significant service agreement payments of $67,500 were made to Greater
Syracuse Soundstage Development Corporation, $33,000 to Syracuse Studios LLC, $20,000 to Ad Films, LLC,
$20,000 to Priscilla Mahar Animal Welfare Foundation, $19,300 to FOCUS Greater Syracuse and $7,500 to
Hack Upstate LLC.

 The Corporations net position decreased by $178,176 and $235,951 in 2018 and 2017, respectively. The
decrease in 2018 was primarily lessened compared to 2017 as the Corporation received $124,725 of project
fees compared to none in 2017. If not for the project fees, the decrease would have been greater than in
2017 primarily due to a greater amount of service agreements entered into by the Corporation totaling
$167,300 in 2018 compared to $95,000 in 2017. In addition, the Hancock Airpark's net position increased
$9,007 primarily due to a parcel sale at the Airpark totaling $22,298 and rental income of $45,170 offset by
operating expenses of the Airpark.
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ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Management's Discussion and Analysis (unaudited)

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Corporation’s basic financial statements.
The Corporation’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) government‐wide financial
statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements.
Government‐wide financial statements – The government‐wide financial statements are designed to provide
readers with a broad overview of the Corporation’s finances, in a manner similar to a private‐sector business. The
Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the Corporation’s assets and liabilities, with the
difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve
as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Corporation is improving or deteriorating.
The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the Corporation’s net position changed during the
fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported when the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs,
regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for
some items that will only result in cash flows in the future fiscal periods. Both of the government‐wide financial
statements report only business‐type (proprietary) activities, since none of the Corporation’s activities are
considered to be governmental activities supported primarily by taxes.
Fund financial statements – A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The Corporation, like other component
units of state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance‐
related legal requirements. The Corporation does not have any finance‐related legal requirements for funds, as
such maintains its books and records consistent with other proprietary funds, which is on a basis consistent with
business‐type activities. The Corporation’s financial statements are considered a proprietary fund (enterprise
fund) which is the same information as presented within the Statements of Net Position and Statements of
Activities.
Notes to the Financial Statements – The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government‐wide financial statements. The notes to the financial
statements can be found on pages 11 through 19 of this report.
GOVERNMENT‐WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of the Corporation’s financial position. In
the case of the OCDC, assets exceeded liabilities by $596,633 and $774,809 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. This net position balance primarily represents cash and cash equivalents of $570,581 whereby
$386,483 may be used by the Corporation for future economic development needs as more fully described in the
Corporations mission statement and $184,098 may be used for the Hancock Airpark operations. The
Corporation’s only fund is treated as a proprietary (business‐type) fund.
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ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Management's Discussion and Analysis (unaudited)

The following are summarized versions of the government‐wide financial statements for 2018 and 2017:

Net Position
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Accounts receivable and prepaid rent
Loan receivable, net
Capital assets, net
Total assets
Due to Onondaga County Office of Economic Development
Due to Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency
Accounts payable

2018
570,581

$

2017
968,152

31,414

252

140,473

15,473

8,917

1,776

$

751,385

$

985,653

$

32,854
114,916
3,482

$

68,805
128,295
10,244

Deposit Payable

2,000

2,000

Total liabilities

$

153,252

$

209,344

Net position

$

598,133

$

776,309

‐6‐

ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Management's Discussion and Analysis (unaudited)

Change in Net Position
2018
Revenue and other support:
Project fees
Application fees
Interest income
Rental income
Rental income, related party
Sale of property
Other investment income
Other income ‐ pass through
Miscellaneous
Total revenue and other support

$

Expenses:
Service contracts
Onondaga County Office of Economic Development
Rent, parking, utilities
Professional services
Marketing
Insurance
Repairs, maintenance and site preparation
Depreciation
Travel, meetings and conferences
Office expenses
Other expenses ‐ pass through
Bank and other fees
Miscellaneous
Total expenses
Change in net position
Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

$

124,725
1,000
3,889
45,170
58,881
22,298
87
162
3,204
259,416

167,300
64,922
122,533
47,886
149
2,077
21,654
921
‐
8,105
162
144
1,739
437,592
(178,176)
774,809
596,633

2017
$

$

‐
500
11,075
45,840
‐
41,723
59,242
14,914
1,601
174,895

95,000
84,753
124,575
24,465
1,321
4,295
46,478
9,128
100
4,567
14,914
70
1,180
410,846
(235,951)
1,010,760
774,809

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION
This financial report is designed to provide readers with a general overview of the Corporation’s finances. If you
have questions about this report or need additional information, contact the Corporation’s board at the
Onondaga Civic Development Corporation, 333 W. Washington Street, Suite 130, Syracuse, NY 13202.
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ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Statements of Net Position

ASSETS
2018
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Loan receivable
Prepaid rent
Total current assets

$

Loan receivable
Capital assets, net

570,581
31,330
140,473
84
742,468

2017
$

‐
8,917

Total assets

968,152
168
8,065
84
976,469
7,408
1,776

$

751,385

$

985,653

$

32,854
3,482
2,000
38,336

$

68,805
10,244
2,000
81,049

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION
Current liabilities:
Due to Onondaga Office of Economic Development
Accounts payable
Deposit Payable

Due to Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency

114,916

128,295

Total liabilities

153,252

209,344

Net position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for contracts
Restricted for Hancock Airpark
Unrestricted
Total net position

8,917
1,500
69,266
518,450
598,133

1,776
1,500
60,259
712,774
776,309

$

751,385

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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$

985,653

ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Statements of Activities and Changes in Net Position

Years ended December 31,
2018
2017
Revenue and other support:
Project fees
Application fees
Interest income
Rental income
Rental income ‐ related party
Sale of property
Other investment income
Other income ‐ pass through
Miscellaneous Income
Total revenue and other support
Expenses:
Service contracts
Onondaga County Office of Economic Development
Rent, parking, utilities
Professional services
Marketing
Insurance
Repairs, maintenance and site preparation
Depreciation
Travel, meetings and conferences
Office expenses
Other expenses ‐ pass through
Bank and other fees
Miscellaneous
Total expenses
Change in net position
Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

$ 124,725
1,000
3,889
45,170
58,881
22,298
87
162
3,204
259,416

$

‐
500
11,075
45,840
‐
41,723
59,242
14,914
1,601
174,895

167,300
64,922
122,533
47,886
149
2,077
21,654
921
‐
8,105
162
144
1,739
437,592

95,000
84,753
124,575
24,465
1,321
4,295
46,478
9,128
100
4,567
14,914
70
1,180
410,846

(178,176)

(235,951)

776,309
$ 598,133

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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1,012,260
776,309

ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Statements of Cash Flows ‐ Proprietary Fund

Years ended December 31,
2018
2017
Cash flows from operating activities:
Inflows ‐
Project fees
Application fees
Interest received
Rental payments
Sale of property
Other investment
Other ‐ pass through
Miscellaneous Income

$

Service contracts
Onondaga County Office of Economic Development
Rent, parking, utilities
Professional services
Other services
Net cash (used) by operating activities*

124,725
1,000
3,889
104,051
22,298
87
162
3,204

$

‐
500
11,075
45,840
41,723
59,242
14,914
1,601

(167,300)
(145,414)
(122,533)
(47,886)
(40,792)
(264,509)

(95,000)
(110,368)
(124,575)
(24,465)
(63,203)
(242,716)

(8,062)
(8,062)

(683)
(683)

Cash flows from capital activities:
Outflows ‐
Acquisition of capital assets
Net cash used in capital activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Inflows ‐
Deposits received
Loan payments received ‐ Light 4 Life
Loan payments received ‐ Sly Tech
Loan Payments received‐ Stuart Huntley Loan
Outflows ‐
Loan issued ‐ GSDC
Deposits refunded
Net cash used by financing activities

‐
‐
‐
‐

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash ‐ Beginning of year
Cash ‐ End of year
*Reconciliation of change in net position to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Change in net position:
Depreciation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid rent
Due to Onondaga Economic Development
Due to Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency
Accounts payable
Net cash (used) / provided by operating activities

$

$

$

‐
3,333
11,079
225,000

(125,000)
‐
(125,000)

‐
(250)
239,162

(397,571)

(4,237)

968,152
570,581

(178,176)
921
(31,162)
‐
(35,951)
(13,379)
(6,762)
(264,509)

$

$

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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972,389
968,152

(235,951)
9,128
328
‐
(909)
(25,034)
9,722
(242,716)

ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Notes to Financial Statements

1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Operations
The Onondaga Civic Development Corporation (“OCDC” / “Corporation”) was organized to stimulate
economic growth and/or lessen the burdens of government through facilitating investments that will
promote job creation/retention, improve the quality of life of Onondaga County citizens, generate
prosperity, and/or encourage economic vibrancy for Onondaga County as a whole, by using available
incentives including the issuance of negotiable bonds for Onondaga County’s non‐profit organizations as
set forth more fully in Section 1411(a) of the Not‐for‐Profit Laws of the State of New York.
OCDC is considered a public authority and is subject to rules and regulations of the New York State Public
Authorities Act of 2009. The Corporation must provide various reports to New York State officials on a
frequent basis. Failure to follow public authority regulations or to provide accurate and timely information
to the New York State officials could impair the ability for the Corporation to act under the public
authority laws of the State of New York.
Basis of Presentation
OCDC is considered a governmental entity for accounting and financial reporting purposes. The financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America as applied to government units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
is the accepted standard setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting
principles. OCDC is considered a component unit of the County of Onondaga, New York and is presented
as a discrete component unit in the County of Onondaga, New York's financial statements.
Governance
OCDC is managed by a Board of Directors which establishes the general policies governing the
organization. The Board of Directors is comprised of seven voting directors whereby three are appointed
by the chairman of the Onondaga County Legislature, three are appointed by the Onondaga County
Executive and one additional director jointly appointed by the Onondaga County Legislature and County
Executive all subject to confirmation by the Onondaga County Legislature.
Annual Budgets
OCDC is required to provide to the New York State authorities budget office an annual budget on
operations and capital construction setting forth the estimated receipts and expenditures for the next
fiscal year and the current fiscal year. This budget is submitted to the authority’s budget office and can be
found on the Corporation’s website at http://www.ongoved.com
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ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Notes to Financial Statements

1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Corporation to concentration of credit risk consist
principally of cash and cash equivalents. The Corporation places its temporary cash investments with
limited financial institutions and at various times these investments exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation limits.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Corporation considers all short‐term investments purchased with an original maturity of three
months or less to be cash equivalents.
All deposits of the Corporation, including certificates of deposit and special time deposits in excess of the
amount insured under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (FDIC) shall be secured by eligible collateral.
Eligible collateral is defined as consisting of any one, or combination, of the following: (a) pledge of
eligible securities with an aggregate market value as provided by General Municipal Law equal to the
aggregate amount of deposits or (b) by an eligible surety bond payable to the Corporation for an amount
equal to 100% of the aggregate amount of deposits and the agreed upon interest, if any, executed by an
insurance company authorized to do business in New York State, whose claims‐paying ability is rated in
the highest rating category by at least two nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. The
Corporation has an excess amount of $91,768 and $291,267 held in two separate banks in excess of the
FDIC insured amounts as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. This excess amount is
collateralized by securities held by the pledging financial institution.
Property and Equipment
Property is recorded at cost at the date of acquisition if purchased or fair market value at the date of
donation in the case of gifts. Depreciation is recorded on the straight‐line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets.
Income Taxes
The Corporation is a not‐for‐profit corporation exempt from taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the
Internal Revenue Code, and has been classified as an organization that is not a private foundation under
Section 509(a) of the Code. The Corporation also believes that none of its activities are subject to
unrelated business income tax, therefore no provision for such income tax has been made in the financial
statements for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.
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ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Notes to Financial Statements

1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Revenue Recognition
The Corporation recognizes project fee revenue related to a bond closing at the time of the bond closing.
All project fees are considered to be operating revenues.
Service Contracts
The Corporation enters into contractual agreements with various entities through its Economic Growth
Support Fund. All service contracts are approved by the Board of Directors and must comply with the
Corporations guidelines for such service contracts. These service contracts have service conditions that
must be met for payment.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period
and for the reporting period and as of the financial statement date. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.
Risks and Uncertainties
Investment securities (including cash equivalents) are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate,
market, and credit risk. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment securities and the level
of uncertainty related to changes in the value of investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible that
changes in risk in the near term would materially affect the amounts reported in the Statements of
Financial Position and the Statements of Activities.
Loan Receivable and Loan Loss Reserve
The Corporation has loan receivables from third parties.
The Corporation assumed the loan guarantee obligation of another entity in 2012 as this other entity was
dissolved in 2012. Upon the dissolution, this other entity provided $54,200 to the Corporation which is
restricted for potential loan losses that the Corporation guarantees. If these loans are defaulted on by the
primary borrower, the Corporations guarantee would require the Corporation to make payments on such
loans in accordance with the guarantee agreement.
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ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Notes to Financial Statements

1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Loan Receivable and Loan Loss Reserve (continued)
A summary of the outstanding loans is as follows:

Due
2019

Due

Principal
$
48,180

Principal
2019

Due
2019

Due
2019
Reserve
Net

21,493

Sly Tech Inc. (a)
Interest
$
2,437
Light 4 Life (b)
Interest
480

Total
$

50,617

Total
21,973

Greater Syracuse Soundstate Development Corporation (c)
Principal
Interest
Total
125,000
‐
125,000

Principal
$
194,673
(54,200)
$
140,473

Combined ‐ all loans
Interest
Total
$
2,917
$
(2,917)
$
‐
$

197,590
(57,117)
140,473

(a) – The loan is payable over five years bearing interest at 4.5%. Monthly principal payments of $1,852
plus interest. OCDC is a participant in the loan which was issued by the Greater Syracuse Business
Development Corporation. The loan was past due as of December 31, 2018, as no payments were
received in 2018.
(b) – The loan is payable over five year bearing interest at 4.5%. Monthly principal payments of $1,667
plus interest. OCDC is a participant in the loan which was issued by the Greater Syracuse Business
Development Corporation. The loan was past due as of December 31, 2018, as no payments were
received in 2018.
(c) ‐ The loan bears no interest and is payable upon receipt of grant monies from the Empire State
Development (ESD) capital grant and from an ESD working capital grant. The Corporation has a
security interest in the real property and personal property of Greater Syracuse Soundstage
Corporation.
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ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Notes to Financial Statements

2.

Capital assets
Capital asset balances and activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 were as follows:

Governmental activities:
Capital assets that are depreciated:
Furniture and equipment
Total depreciable historical cost
Less accumulated depreciation:
Furniture and equipment
Total accumulated depreciation
Total historical cost, net

Beginning
Balance

Additions

$ 52,688
52,688

$ 8,062
8,062

(50,912)
(50,912)

(921)
(921)

$ 1,776

$ 7,141

Disposals
$

$

Ending
Balance

‐
‐

$ 60,750
60,750

‐
‐

(51,833)
(51,833)

‐

$ 8,917

Depreciation of $921 and 9,128 was expensed in 2018 and 2017, respectively.
3.

Investments
The Corporation has a written investment policy. This investment policy allows the Corporation to invest
in a variety of appropriate investment vehicles, including but not limited to special time deposits,
certificates of deposits, obligations of the United States of America, obligations guaranteed by agencies of
the United States of America and obligations of the State of New York. All investments held on behalf of
the Corporation shall be held in the custody of a bank or trust company and shall be held pursuant to a
written custodial agreement. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, all of the assets of the Corporation are
invested within either a general checking account or a money market account which are considered cash
and cash equivalents for financial statement reporting.
Investments are reported at fair value. The Corporation’s investments are typically money market
investments which are short‐term, highly liquid debt instruments, including commercial paper, banker’s
acceptances, and U.S. Treasury and agency obligations. As of December 31, 2018, the Corporation’s
investments of $341,768 were entirely held at one financial institution and were entirely money market
funds. The money market investment is not rated by one of the independent rating agencies.
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ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Notes to Financial Statements

4.

Lease Arrangement – Hancock Airpark
The Corporation entered into an economic development lease agreement with the County of Onondaga
(a related party) related to property located in the Towns of Cicero and Dewitt, New York, also known as
Hancock Airpark. Hancock Airpark is a 425 acre industrial and office park adjacent to the Hancock
International Airport. The lease agreement was entered into to promote the economic development of
the Airpark by the Corporation for approximately 50 acres of the Airpark.
The lease agreement allows for the Corporation to lease or sell property within the Airpark to third party
commercial users of such property based on terms and conditions in the lease arrangement. The
agreement requires the Corporation to transfer 60% of the net sale proceeds of property sales to the
Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency up to a cumulative amount of $348,387 (total
remaining as of December 31, 2018 is $114,916). Any remaining net proceeds are restricted to be used
for Airpark operations as defined by the agreement. The Corporation sold a parcel totaling $22,298 in
2018 and transferred a total of $13,379 to the Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency in
accordance with the terms of the lease agreement.
The Corporation may also enter into subleases of the property with third party commercial users. All
rentals received from such subleases are also restricted to be used for Airpark operations as defined by
the agreement.
The lease agreement terminates upon the earliest of the following events: (a) December 31, 2018; or (b)
sale of all the leased premises; or (c) dissolution or liquidation of the leasee. In the event of termination,
the Corporation shall transfer to the County all net proceeds (restricted net assets) remaining. The
Corporation has an option to renew the lease according to terms of the lease agreement and has renewed
the lease. In addition, upon the initial lease agreement, the County transferred monies totaling $85,821 to
the Corporation which is restricted for purposes of operating the Airpark as defined by the agreement.
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ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Notes to Financial Statements

5.

Conduit Debt Obligations
OCDC has the ability to issue bonds which are deemed to be limited obligations of the Corporation. These
bonds are considered to be limited obligations as the payments for such bonds are pledged from a source
outside the Corporation which has the obligation to pay the principal and interest of such bonds. These
bonds are paid solely from the net revenues and other funds of the Corporation pledged under terms of
each individual bond indenture agreement. Since the Corporation does not have any obligation to repay
the principal and interest of such bonds, the bonds are not reflected on the Statement of Net Position as
long‐term debt. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Corporation has issued bonds with an aggregate
principal amount outstanding of $162,501,511 and $145,411,511, respectively.
A summary of the conduit debt issued through the Corporation is as follows:
Issuance Description
Revenue Bonds, Series 2010 (Le Moyne College Project)
Revenue Bonds, Series 2011 (Upstate Properties Development,
Inc. Project)
Revenue Bonds, Series 2012 (Le Moyne College Project)
Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 (Jewish Home of Central New York,
Inc. Project)
Tax‐Exempt Multi‐modal Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 (YMCA of
Greater Syracuse, Inc. Project)
Revenue Bonds Series 2015 (LeMoyne College Project)
Tax‐Exempt Bonds Series 2015A (Onondaga Community College
Housing Development)
Tax‐Exempt Revenue Bonds (Dig Safely New York, Inc. Project)
Series 2018
Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2018 (Le Moyne College
Project)

Date of
Principal at
Issuance
Issuance
7/5/2010 $ 25,000,000

Interest
Rate(s)
4.625% to 5.375%

Maturity
Date
7/1/2040

11/30/2011
10/30/2012

32,000,000
17,240,000

3.00% to 5.25%
2% to 5%

12/1/2041
7/1/2042

11/4/2014

20,410,000

1.75% to 5.50%

3/1/2034

7/15/2014
7/30/2015

16,356,511
15,000,000

Variable
5.00%

1/1/2041
7/1/2045

9/16/2015

25,090,000

2‐5%

10/1/2040

7/31/2018

6,000,000

Variable

7/1/2029

3/28/2018

12,945,000
$ 170,041,511

5.00%

1/1/2043

A summary of the conduit debt activity for the year is as follows:
Principal at
Issuance Description
12/31/2017
Issuances
Revenue Bonds, Series 2010 (Le Moyne College Project)
$ 25,000,000 $
‐
Revenue Bonds, Series 2011 (Upstate Properties Development,
Inc. Project)
29,350,000
‐
Revenue Bonds, Series 2012 (Le Moyne College Project)
17,030,000
‐
Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 (Jewish Home of Central New York,
Inc. Project)
19,410,000
‐
Tax‐Exempt Multi‐modal Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 (YMCA of
Greater Syracuse, Inc. Project)
15,276,511
‐
Revenue Bonds Series 2015 (LeMoyne College Project)
15,000,000
‐
Tax‐Exempt Bonds Series 2015A (Onondaga Community College
Housing Development)
24,345,000
‐
Tax‐Exempt Revenue Bonds (Dig Safely New York, Inc. Project)
Series 2018
‐
6,000,000
Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2018 (Le Moyne College
Project)
‐
12,945,000
$ 145,411,511 $ 18,945,000
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Principal
Payments
$

$

‐

Principal at
12/31/2018
$ 25,000,000

(660,000)
(45,000)

28,690,000
16,985,000

‐

19,410,000

(540,000)
‐

14,736,511
15,000,000

(610,000)

23,735,000

‐

6,000,000

‐
(1,855,000)

12,945,000
$ 162,501,511

ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Notes to Financial Statements

6.

Related Party Transactions
The Corporation has entered into an agreement with Onondaga County Office of Economic Development
to provide staffing and other support costs for all of the Corporation’s activities. The contract totaled
$64,922 and $84,753 in 2018 and 2017, respectively. This contract is all‐inclusive for employee salaries
and related fringe benefits; as such no salaries or benefits are recorded individually on the financial
statements of the Corporation. Under terms of the contract, Onondaga County Office of Economic
Development is the legally responsible entity to make such fringe benefit and salary payments. In
addition, agreements with both Onondaga County and the Onondaga County Industrial Development
Agency allows for marketing related expenses to be evenly allocated amount the Corporation and these
two related entities.

7.

Lease Commitments
The Corporation entered into an agreement leasing office space in June 2011. The terms of the lease
require monthly minimum payments of $10,004. The lease agreement expires June 2021 with the option
to extend the term for two successive periods of five years each. The first renewal term requires monthly
payments of $10,421 while the second renewal term requires monthly payments of $10,838. The
Corporation must exercise its option to renew at least 12 months prior to the expiration of the current
lease term. Rent expense was $117,762 and $118,513 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Total future minimum lease commitments are as follows:

Year ending
December 31,
2019
2020
2021
2022
Total

Amount
120,048
120,048
120,048
60,024
$ 420,168

The Corporation has a one‐time option to terminate the lease as of the end of the 5th through 9th year of
the lease term. The Corporation may elect this one‐time option by notifying the lessor 6 months prior to
the effective termination date and by paying a termination fee of $106,125 at the time of the election.
The above minimum lease commitment schedule assumes the Corporation will not elect the option to
terminate the lease early.
In addition, the Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency (OCIDA), a related party, entered into
an agreement with the Corporation to fund a portion of the lease based on an allocation determined by
the two entities. The amount funded by OCIDA in 2018 was $58,881.
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ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Notes to Financial Statements

8.

Subsequent Events
In preparing financial statements, management of the Corporation has evaluated events and transactions
for potential recognition or disclosure through March 12, 2019, the date the financial statements were
available to be issued.
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SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Combining Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2018

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Loans receivable, net
Prepaid rent
Total current assets

Primary
Operations
$ 386,483
31,330
140,473
‐
558,286

Hancock
Airpark
$ 184,098
‐
‐
84
184,182

‐
8,917

‐
‐

Loans receivable
Capital assets, net
Total assets
Current liabilities:
Due to Onondaga Office of Economic Development
Deposit Payable
Accounts payable
Due to Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency
Total liabilities
Net position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for contracts
Restricted for Hancock Park
Unrestricted
Total net position

$

$ 567,203

$

184,182

$

$

$

‐
‐
‐
‐

$

32,854
2,000
3,482
38,336

Total
570,581
31,330
140,473
84
742,468
‐
8,917
‐
751,385

32,854
2,000
3,482
38,336

‐

114,916

114,916

38,336

114,916

153,252

8,917
1,500
‐
518,450
528,867

‐
‐
69,266
‐
69,266

8,917
1,500
69,266
518,450
598,133

$ 567,203

$

184,182

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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$

751,385

ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Combining Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2017

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Loans receivable, net
Prepaid rent
Total current assets

Primary
Operations
$ 779,682
168
8,065
‐
787,915

Hancock
Airpark
$ 188,470
‐
‐
84
188,554

7,408
1,776

‐
‐

Loans receivable
Capital assets, net
Total assets
Current liabilities:
Due to Onondaga Office of Economic Development
Deposit Payable
Accounts payable
Due to Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency
Total liabilities
Net position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for contracts
Restricted for Hancock Park
Unrestricted
Total net position

$

$ 797,099

$

188,554

$

$

$

‐
‐
‐
‐

$

68,805
2,000
10,244
81,049

Total
968,152
168
8,065
84
976,469
7,408
1,776
‐
985,653

68,805
2,000
10,244
81,049

‐

128,295

128,295

81,049

128,295

209,344

1,776
1,500
‐
712,774
716,050

‐
‐
60,259
‐
60,259

1,776
1,500
60,259
712,774
776,309

$ 797,099

$

188,554

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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$

985,653

ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Combining Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Position
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Revenue and other support:
Project fees
Application fees
Interest income
Rental income
Rental income ‐ related party
Sale of property
Other investment income
Other income ‐ pass through
Miscellaneous Income
Total revenue and other support

Primary
Operations
$ 124,725
1,000
3,889
‐
58,881
‐
87
162
3,204
191,948

Hancock
Airpark
$
‐
‐
‐
45,170
‐
22,298
‐
‐
‐
67,468

Total
$ 124,725
1,000
3,889
45,170
58,881
22,298
87
162
3,204
259,416

167,300
64,922
‐
117,762
16,600
149
2,077
‐
921
‐
8,102
162
144
992
379,131

‐
‐
‐
4,771
31,286
‐
‐
21,654
‐
‐
3
‐
‐
747
58,461

167,300
64,922
‐
122,533
47,886
149
2,077
21,654
921
‐
8,105
162
144
1,739
437,592

(187,183)

9,007

(178,176)

716,050

60,259

776,309

Expenses:
Service contracts
Onondaga County Office of Economic Development
Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency
Rent, parking, utilities
Professional services
Marketing
Insurance
Repairs, maintenance and site preparation
Depreciation
Travel, meetings and conferences
Office expenses
Other expenses ‐ pass through
Bank and other fees
Miscellaneous
Total expenses
Change in net position
Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

$

528,867

$

69,266

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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$

598,133

ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Combining Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Position
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

Revenue and other support:
Project fees
Application fees
Interest income
Rental income
Sale of property
Other investment income
Other income ‐ pass through
Total revenue and other support

Primary
Operations
$
500
11,075
‐
‐
59,242
14,914
1,601
87,332

Hancock
Airpark
$
‐
‐
45,840
41,723
‐
‐
‐
87,563

95,000
84,753
‐
118,513
7,903
1,321
4,295
‐
9,128
100
4,370
14,914
70
398
340,765

‐
‐
‐
6,062
16,562
‐
‐
46,478
‐
‐
197
‐
‐
782
70,081

95,000
84,753
‐
124,575
24,465
1,321
4,295
46,478
9,128
100
4,567
14,914
70
1,180
410,846

(253,433)

17,482

(235,951)

969,483

42,777

1,012,260

Expenses:
Service contracts
Onondaga County Office of Economic Development
Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency
Rent, parking, utilities
Professional services
Marketing
Insurance
Repairs, maintenance and site preparation
Depreciation
Travel, meetings and conferences
Office expenses
Other expenses ‐ pass through
Bank charges
Miscellaneous
Total expenses
Change in net position
Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

$

716,050

$

60,259

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Total
$

$

500
11,075
45,840
41,723
59,242
14,914
1,601
174,895

776,309

ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Combining Statement of Cash Flows – Proprietary Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Cash flows from operating activities:
Inflows ‐
Project fees
Application fees
Interest received
Rental payments
Sale of property
Other investment
Other ‐ pass through
Miscellaneous Income
Outflows ‐
Service contracts
Onondaga County Office of Economic Development
Rent, parking, utilities
Professional services
Other services
Net cash used by operating activities*
Cash flows from capital activities:
Outflows ‐
Acquisition of capital assets
Net cash used in capital activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Inflows ‐
Loan payments received ‐ Light 4 Life
Loan payments received ‐ Sly Tech
Loan Payments received‐ Strart Huntley Loan
Outflows ‐
Loan issued ‐ GSDC
Deposits refunded
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash ‐ Beginning of year
Cash ‐ End of year
*Reconciliation of change in net position to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Change in net position:
Depreciation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Due to Onondaga Economic Development
Due to Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency
Accounts payable
Net cash used by operating activities

Primary
Operations

Hancock
Airpark

$ 124,725
1,000
3,889
58,881
‐
87
162
3,204

$

(167,300)
(132,035)
(117,762)
(16,600)
(18,388)
(260,137)

‐
‐
‐
45,170
22,298
‐
‐
‐

Total
$

‐
(13,379)
(4,771)
(31,286)
(22,404)
(4,372)

(8,062)
(8,062)

(167,300)
(145,414)
(122,533)
(47,886)
(40,792)
(264,509)

‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

(8,062)
(8,062)

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

(125,000)
‐
(125,000)

124,725
1,000
3,889
104,051
22,298
87
162
3,204

(125,000)
‐
(125,000)

(393,199)

(4,372)

779,682
$ 386,483

188,470
$ 184,098

$ (187,183)
921

$

9,007
‐

$ (178,176)
921

(31,162)
(35,951)
‐
(6,762)
$ (260,137)

‐
‐
(13,379)
‐
$ (4,372)

(31,162)
(35,951)
(13,379)
(6,762)
$ (264,509)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
‐ 24 ‐

(397,571)

$

968,152
570,581

ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Combining Statement of Cash Flows – Proprietary fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

Cash flows from operating activities:
Inflows ‐
Application fees
Interest received
Rental payments
Sale of property
Other investment
Other ‐ pass through
Miscellaneous Income
Outflows ‐
Service contracts
Onondaga County Office of Economic Development
Rent, parking, utilities
Professional services
Other services
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities*
Cash flows from capital activities:
Outflows ‐
Acquisition of capital assets
Net cash used in capital activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Inflows ‐
Deposit received
Loan payments received ‐ Light 4 Life
Loan payments received ‐ Sly Tech
Loan payment received ‐ Strathmore Huntley Loan
Outflows ‐
Deposits refunded
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash ‐ Beginning of year
Cash ‐ End of year

Primary
Operations

Hancock
Airpark

$

$

500
11,075
‐
‐
59,242
14,914
1,601
(95,000)
(85,334)
(118,513)
(7,903)
(15,746)
(235,164)

‐
‐
45,840
41,723
‐
‐
‐

Total
$

‐
(25,034)
(6,062)
(16,562)
(47,457)
(7,552)

500
11,075
45,840
41,723
59,242
14,914
1,601
(95,000)
(110,368)
(124,575)
(24,465)
(63,203)
(242,716)

(683)
(683)

‐
‐

(683)
(683)

‐
3,333
11,079
225,000

‐
‐
‐

‐
3,333
11,079

(250)
239,162

‐
‐

(250)
239,162

3,315

(7,552)

(4,237)

776,367
$ 779,682

196,022
$ 188,470

$

972,389
968,152

$ 17,482
‐

$ (235,951)
9,128

‐
‐
‐
(25,034)
‐
$ (7,552)

328
‐
(909)
(25,034)
9,722
$ (242,716)

*Reconciliation of change in net position to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Change in net position:
$ (253,433)
Depreciation
9,128
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
328
Prepaid rent
‐
Due to Onondaga Economic Development
(909)
Due to Onondaga County Industrial Development Agency
‐
Accounts payable
9,722
Net cash provided by operating activities
$ (235,164)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Board of Directors
Onondaga Civic Development Corporation
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States, the financial statements of the business-type activities of Onondaga Civic
Development Corporation, a component unit of the County of Onondaga, New York as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Onondaga
Civic Development Corporation’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated March 12,
2019.
Internal Control over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Onondaga Civic Development
Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Onondaga Civic Development Corporation’s
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Onondaga Civic Development
Corporation’s internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough
to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not
identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses.
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Onondaga Civic Development Corporation’s financial
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material
effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with
those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results
of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.
Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards
in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any
other purpose.

Syracuse, New York
March 12, 2019

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors
Onondaga Civic Development Corporation
We have examined management's assertion, herein, that the Onondaga Civic Development Corporation’s (the
Company) compliance with the New York State Public Authorities Law section 2925 applicable to the Company’s
adoption of comprehensive investment guidelines for the year ended December 31, 2018. Management is
responsible for the Company’s assertion. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management's assertion
about the Company’s compliance with the specified requirements based on our examination.
Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and perform the examination to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether management's assertion about compliance with the specified requirements
is fairly stated, in all material respects. An examination involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about
whether management's assertion is fairly stated, in all material respects. The nature, timing, and extent of the
procedures selected depend on our judgment, including an assessment of risks of material misstatement of
management's assertion, whether due to fraud or error. We believe that the evidence we obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the Company complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned requirements for the year
ended December 31, 2018.
This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, the audit committee and Board of
Directors, others within the Company, and for compliance with the New York State Public Authorities Law and is
not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Syracuse, New York
March 14, 2019

ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
POSITIVE ASSURANCE REPORT

I)

Designation of Depositories
The Company authorizes certain depository banks up to a maximum amount of $10,000,000.
Management's Assertion:
The Company complied with the requirement as of December 31, 2018.

II)

Purchase of Investments
 The Company's purchase of investments policy requires that all purchased obligations shall be
purchased through, delivered to and held in the custody of a bank or trust company. Any
obligation held in the custody of a bank or trust company shall be held pursuant to a written
custodial agreement as described in General Municipal Law (GML), §10.
 The Company's permitted investments include: (a) special time deposit accounts in an
authorized banking depository or trust company secured in the same manner prescribed by
General Municipal Law §10; (b) Certificates of Deposit; (c) obligations of the United States of
America; (d) obligations guaranteed by agencies of the United States of America, where the
payment of principal and interest is guaranteed by the United States of America; (e) obligations
of the State of New York; (f) obligations issued pursuant to Local Finance Law §24 or §25 (RANs
& TANs) of municipalities, school districts or district corporations; and (g) obligations of public
benefit corporations, public housing authorities and urban renewal agencies.
Management's Assertion:
The Company complied with the requirement as of December 31, 2018.

III)

Collateralizing Deposits
All deposits of the Company in excess of the amount insured under the provisions of the Federal Deposit
Insurance Act shall be secured by eligible collateral. Eligible collateral consists of any one, or
combination, of the following: a. by a pledge of eligible securities with an aggregate market value as
provided by GML §10, equal to the aggregate amount of deposits; b. by an eligible surety bond payable
to the Company for an amount at least equal to 100% of the aggregate amount of deposits and the
agreed upon interest, if any, executed by an insurance company authorized to do business in New York
State, whose claims-paying ability is rated in the highest rating category by at least two nationally
recognized statistical rating organizations.
Management's Assertion:
The Company complied with the requirement as of December 31, 2018.

IV)

Diversification
The Company will diversify its deposits and investments by financial institution, by investment
instrument, and by maturity scheduling.
Management's Assertion:
The Company complied with the requirement as of December 31, 2018.

ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
POSITIVE ASSURANCE REPORT

V)

Standards for Qualifications of Investment Bankers, Brokers & Other Investment Advisors
The Company shall maintain a list of financial institutions and dealers approved for investment purposes
and establish appropriate limits to the amount of investments, which can be made with each financial
institution or dealer.
Management's Assertion:
The Company complied with the requirement as of December 31, 2018.

VI)

Operations, Audit and Reporting
The treasurer, assistant treasurer or other staff member shall provide a monthly investment review to
the Company, noting the inventory of existing investments, new investments and the selection of
investment bankers, brokers, agents, dealers or auditors.
Management's Assertion:
The Company complied with the requirement as of December 31, 2018.
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Chairman (November 2015 – Present)
Director (2015- October 2015)
Matthew Marko
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(2015 – Present)
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(2016 – Present)
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For those who make over $100,000 including biographical information.
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MISSION STATEMENT
The Onondaga Civic Development Corporation supports the County of Onondaga government,
businesses, and not for profit corporations. It also serves as a facilitator of solutions for
governmental problems through its flexible and efficient statutory powers. OCDC uses available
financial and policy incentives to stimulate economic growth, lessen the burdens of
government, promote job creation and retention, generate prosperity, improve the quality of
life of residents, and encourage economic vibrancy. OCDC strives to provide local, convenient,
and economical financing opportunities for its constituents in Onondaga County. OCDC takes
pride in its understanding of local economic development opportunities, flexibility to meet
municipal needs, and fast response to ever changing economic development demands.

PURPOSE
The Onondaga Civic Development Corporation (OCDC) was formed and operates to relieve and
reduce unemployment, improve and maintain job opportunities, and lessen the burden of
government while acting in the interest of the public.

STATUTORY BASIS
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
A Not-For-Profit Local Development Corporation
under Section 1411 of the Not-For-Profit
Corporation Law of the State of New York
THE UNDERSIGNED, being over the age of eighteen years, for the purpose of forming a not-for-profit local
development corporation pursuant to Section 1411 of the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law of the State of New
York, hereby certifies as follows:

FIRST:

The name of the corporation shall be the Onondaga Civic Development Corporation (hereinafter
referred to as the “Corporation”).

SECOND: The Corporation will be a corporation as defined in subparagraph (a)(5) of Section 102 of the
Not-For-Profit Corporation Law of the State of New York and, as provided in Section 1411 of the
Not-For-Profit Corporation Law, will be a Type C Corporation as defined in Section 201 of the
Not-For-Profit Corporation Law. The Corporation shall serve as a supporting organization for, but
operate separate and apart from the County of Onondaga, New York (the “County”).

THIRD: The purposes for which the Corporation is to be formed and operated are exclusively for
charitable purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, to relieve and reduce unemployment, promote and provide for additional
and maximum employment, improve and maintain job opportunities, and lessen the burden of
government and act in the public interest. In furtherance of said purposes, the Corporation’s
powers shall include:
(a)

To foster the creation, retention and expansion of jobs and economic
opportunities for the benefit of the County, State and local economies; and

(b)

To construct, acquire, rehabilitate and improve for use by others, facilities in
the territory in which its operations are principally to be conducted, to assist
financially in such construction, acquisition, rehabilitation and improvement, to
maintain and/or lease such facilities on its behalf or for others in such territory;

to disseminate information and furnish advice, technical assistance and liaison
with federal, state and local authorities with respect thereto;
(c)

To acquire by purchase, lease, gift, bequest, devise or otherwise real or
personal property or interests therein;

(d)

To apply for loans and borrow money without limit as to amount; to make,
draw, accept, endorse, execute and issue negotiable bonds, debentures, notes
and other obligations therefor;

(e)

To sell, lease, mortgage or otherwise dispose of or encumber any such facilities
or any of its real or personal property or any interest therein upon such terms
as it may determine;

(f)

To enter into covenants and agreements and to comply with all the terms,
conditions and provisions thereof, and otherwise to carry out its corporate
purposes and to foster and encourage the location or expansion of facilities
and related businesses in the territory in which the operations of such
Corporation are principally to be conducted;

(g)

To apply for and make grants and loans and to execute any and all documents
necessary in connection therewith;

(h)

To do any other act or thing incidental to or connected with the foregoing
purposes or in advancement thereof, but not for the pecuniary profit or
financial gain of its members, directors, officers or any private person.

(i)

In general, to perform any and all acts and things, and exercise any and all
powers which may now or hereafter be lawful for the Corporation to do or
exercise under and pursuant to the laws of the State of New York for the
purpose of accomplishing any of the foregoing purposes of the Corporation.

FOURTH: The Corporation’s mission and public objective, which the Corporation’s purposes will achieve,
include, but are not limited to, the lessening of the burdens of government by undertaking and
promoting green and eco-friendly development initiatives in Onondaga County, New York that
will include real estate leasing, acquisition, development and management, real estate project
finance, and other community-based economic development activities permissible under the
Not-For-Profit Corporation Law.

FIFTH:

The operations of the Corporation will be principally conducted within the territory of the County
of Onondaga, New York.

SIXTH:

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 1411(e) of the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law:
(a)

All income and earnings of the Corporation shall be used exclusively for its
corporate purposes with the intent being that all income and earnings will be
expended or deposited in appropriate reserves for corporate purposes; to the
extent not so used, the income and earnings will accrue and be paid to the Job
Development Authority to the extent required by Section 1411 of the Not-forProfit Corporation Law.

(b)

The property of the Corporation is irrevocably dedicated to charitable
purposes. No part of the income or earnings of the Corporation shall inure to
the benefit or profit of, nor shall any distribution of its property or assets be
made to, any member, director or officer of the Corporation, or private person,
corporate or individual, or to any other private interest, except that the
Corporation may repay loans made to it and may repay contributions (other
than dues) made to it to the extent that any such contribution may not be
allowable as a deduction in computing taxable income under the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

(c)

If the Corporation accepts a mortgage loan or loans from the New York Job
Development Authority, the Corporation shall be dissolved in accordance with
the provisions of paragraph (g) of Section 1411 of the Not-For-Profit
Corporation Law upon the repayment or other discharge in full by the
Corporation of all such loans.

SEVENTH:
(a)

The Corporation shall not attempt to influence legislation by propaganda or
otherwise, or participate in or intervene, directly or indirectly, in any political
campaign on behalf of or in opposition to any candidate for public office.

(b)

The Corporation shall not engage in any activities not permitted to be carried
on by an organization exempt from federal income taxation pursuant to
Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of

1986, as amended, and

the regulations promulgated thereunder.

EIGHTH: In the event of the dissolution of the Corporation or the winding up of its affairs, the Board of
Directors shall, after paying or making provision for the payment of all debts and liabilities of the
Corporation of whatsoever kind or nature, distribute all of the remaining assets and property of
the Corporation to the County for furtherance of the purposes set forth in Section 1411 of the

Not-for-Profit Corporation Law. Any of such assets not so disposed of shall be disposed of by
order of the Supreme Court of the State of New York pursuant to Section 1008 of the Not-ForProfit Corporation Law.

NINTH: The office of the Corporation shall be located in the County of Onondaga, New York.

TENTH: The offices of the Corporation shall be functionally separate from those of the County or any of
its affiliated entities (collectively, the “County Entities”) (although such office may be in a facility
leased from the County or any of its affiliates on arms-length terms). The Corporation at all
times shall:
(a)

maintain separate accounting records and other corporate records from those
of the County Entities;

(b)

not divert the Corporation’s funds to any other person or for other than the
use of the Corporation and not commingle any of the Corporation’s assets with
those of the County Entities;

(c)

pay any employee, consultant or agent of the Corporation, or any other
operating expense incurred by the Corporation, from the assets of the
Corporation and not from the assets of any of the County Entities;

(d)

maintain its own deposit account or accounts, separate from those of the
County Entities, with commercial banking institutions and/or trust companies;

(e)

to the extent that the Corporation contracts or does business with vendors or
service providers where the goods and services provided are partially for the
benefit of any other person, the costs incurred in so doing shall be fairly
allocated to or among the Corporation and such persons for whose benefit the
goods and services are provided, and the Corporation and each such person
shall bear its fair share of such costs;

(f)

conduct its business in its own name and conduct all material transactions
between the Corporation and the County Entities only on an arm’s-length
basis;

(g)

observe all necessary, appropriate and customary corporate formalities,
including, but not limited to, holding all regular and special members’ and
directors’ meetings appropriate to authorize all corporate action, keeping
separate and accurate minutes of such meetings, passing all resolutions or
consents necessary to authorize actions taken or to be taken, and maintaining
accurate and separate books, records, and accounts, including, but not limited

to, intercompany transaction accounts. Regular members’ and directors’
meetings shall be held at least annually;
(h)

ensure that decisions with respect to its business and daily operations shall be
independently made by the Corporation (although the officer making any
particular decision also may be an employee, officer or director of the County
Entities);

(i)

act solely in its own corporate name and through its own authorized officers
and agents, and use its own stationery;

(j)

other than as expressly provided herein, pay all expenses, indebtedness and
other obligations incurred by it;

(k)

not enter into any guaranty, or otherwise become liable, with respect to any
obligation of the County Entities;

(l)

cause any financial reports required of the Corporation to be prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and be audited
annually and be issued separately from, although they may be consolidated
with, any reports prepared for any member of the County Entities; and

(m)

ensure that at all times it is adequately capitalized to engage in the transactions
contemplated herein.

ELEVENTH: The types or classes of Membership in the Corporation and the number of Members of
the Corporation shall be described in the By-laws. The initial Members of the
Corporation shall be identified in the By-laws.

TWELFTH: The Corporation shall be managed by a Board of Directors consisting of three to seven voting
Directors. Up to an additional thirteen individuals can be designated by the voting Directors as
non-voting members of the Board who shall serve for one year terms and act in an advisory
capacity only to the voting Directors. The non-voting Directors shall hold the title merely in an
advisory capacity to the voting Directors. The designation of non-voting Director does not create
any rights for the individual designated to notice or other participation except at the request of
the voting Directors; provided however, said non-voting directors shall enjoy the benefits of any
indemnification of directors as determined herein or as determined from time to time. Any
subsequent increase or decrease in the size of the Board of Directors will require the unanimous
approval of the Members and the affirmative vote of a majority of the voting Directors.

THIRTEENTH:

The names and addresses of the initial Directors of the Corporation will be as follows:

Name

Address

Mary Beth Primo, Esq.

421 Montgomery Street
th
14 Floor
Syracuse, New York 13202

Timothy A. Frateschi, Esq.

Harris Beach PLLC
300 S. State Street
Syracuse, New York 13202

Shawn M. Griffin, Esq.

Harris Beach PLLC
300 S. State Street
Syracuse, New York 13202

FOURTEENTH: The duration of the Corporation shall be perpetual.

FIFTEENTH: The Corporation shall indemnify each Member, each Director, each officer, and, to the extent
authorized by the Board of Directors, each other person authorized to act for the Corporation or
on its behalf, to the full extent to which indemnification is permitted under the Not-For-Profit
Corporation Law.

SIXTEENTH: The Secretary of New York State is designated as agent of the Corporation upon whom
process against it may be served. The post office address to which the Secretary of State shall
mail a copy of any process against the Corporation served upon him is as follows: Onondaga
Civic Development Corporation, c/o Onondaga County/Syracuse Economic Growth Council 421
th

Montgomery Street, 14 Floor, Syracuse, New York 13202.

SEVENTEENTH: The By-laws of the Corporation may be adopted, amended or repealed by a majority of
the voting Directors of the Corporation.

EIGHTEENTH: The Corporation will not do any of the following:
(a)

Without the affirmative vote of all Members of the Corporation and the
affirmative vote of a majority of the voting Directors, increase or decrease the
number of Members of the Corporation or increase or decrease the number of
Directors of the Corporation.

(b)

Without the affirmative vote of a majority of the voting Directors of the
Corporation and all of the Corporation’s members, (i) dissolve or liquidate, in
whole or in part, or institute proceedings to be adjudicated bankrupt or
insolvent, (ii) consent to the institution of bankruptcy or insolvency

proceedings against it, (iii) file a petition seeking or consenting to
reorganization or relief under any applicable federal or state law relating to
bankruptcy or insolvency, (iv) consent to the appointment of a receiver,
liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator or other similar official of the
Corporation or a substantial part of its property, (v) make a general assignment
for the benefit of creditors, (vi) admit in writing its inability to pay its debts
generally as they become due or (vii) take any corporate action in furtherance
of the actions set forth in clauses (i) through (vi) of this paragraph.
(c)

Without the affirmative vote of all of the voting Directors of the Corporation
and all of the Corporation’s members, merge or consolidate with any other
corporation, company or entity or, except to the extent contemplated by
paragraph THIRD hereof, sell all or substantially all of its assets or acquire all or
substantially all of the assets or capital stock or other ownership interest of
any other corporation, company or entity.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this certificate has been subscribed this 6th day of August, 2009.

/s/ Carla J. Penazek
Carla J. Penazek, Incorporator
99 Garnsey Road
Pittsford, NY 14534

NYS Not-For-Profit Corporation Law - Section 1411
Appendix L

BYLAWS
Appendix C

CODE OF ETHICS
Appendix D

PERFORMANCE GOALS
Appendix E

AUTHORITIES & SUBSIDIARIES
None

OPERATIONS, PROGRAMS & ACCOMPLISHMENTS
SUMMARY
 A seven (7) member board governs the Corporation, with three (3) voting Directors
appointed by the Chairman of the Onondaga County Legislature, three (3) voting Directors
appointed by the County Executive, and one (1) additional voting Director of the
Corporation jointly appointed by a majority of the Onondaga County Legislature and the
County Executive; all directors are subject to confirmation by the Onondaga County
Legislature.
 Operating funds are derived solely from fees paid by applicants receiving assistance and the
interest earned on the Corporation fund balance.
 The Onondaga County Office of Economic Development administers the Onondaga Civic
Development Corporation.
 During the 2018 fiscal year, the Corporation conducted sixteen (16) public meetings. These
included nine (9) regular meetings, six (5) committee meetings and one (1) annual meeting.
 An independent certified public accounting firm performs the annual financial audit of the
Corporation. The report will be available after March 31, 2019 at www.ongoved.com.

PROGRAMS & INCENTIVES
The Corporation provides support and operates incentive programs consistent with its power
and mission statement.





Financing – The Corporation has the power to issue tax-exempt private activity bonds as
well as taxable bonds.
OCDC is a local development corporation authorized to issue bonds on behalf of not-forprofit organizations and for-profit entities. As such, the corporation offers a local,
convenient and more economical financing opportunity to access capital for projects
that enhance, create, and preserve economic and employment opportunities within the
County.
The Economic Growth Fund was created in 2011. Its primary goal is to offer assistance
to those projects and purposes that will affect the economic position of Onondaga
County and for which financial support typically is not available from other public,
community, or foundation funds.

2018 ACCOMPLISHMENTS







Conducted Corporation Annual meeting, nine (9) board meetings, two (2) public hearings
and six (5) committee meetings.
Adhered to and met all PAAA requirements.
Received two (2) bond applications
Entered into six (6) service contracts with Syracuse Studios LLC; Hack Upstate LLC; FOCUS
Greater Syracuse; Priscilla Mahar Animal Welfare Foundation; Ad Films LLC and Greater
Syracuse Soundstage Development Corporation.
Entered into one (1) Bridge Loan with the Greater Syracuse Soundstage Development
Corporation.

ASSESSMENT OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF
INTERNAL CONTROL STRUCTURE AND PROCEDURES
This statement certifies that management has documented and assessed the internal control
structure and procedures of the Onondaga County Civic Development Corporation for the year
ending December 31, 2017. This assessment found the corporation’s internal controls to be
adequate, and to the extent that deficiencies were identified, the authority has developed
corrective action plans to reduce any corresponding risk. See Appendix E.

MATERIAL CHANGES IN OPERATIONS & PROGRAMS
None.

2018 OCDC PROJECT DETAIL
Projects Undertaken by the Corporation
Name

Project Description

Closing Date

Bond
Amount

Dig Safely
New York Inc.
LeMoyne
College

Construction of an 8,500 sq. ft. training and
educational center.

July 31, 2018

$6,000,000

Refinancing of existing bonds.

May 17, 2018

$12,945,000

2018 FINANCIAL REPORT
The Public Authority Accountability Act of 2005 (PAAA) as amended in 2009 is designed to
ensure greater efficiency and accountability for New York's public authorities, including
Industrial Development Agencies. Among the requirements of the PAAA is the preparation of
an annual report that is to contain specified information. This section of the Agency Annual
Report summarizes the financial information required by the PAAA.

OCDC Revenue Expense Summary (Draft)
Category

Revenue

Operating Revenue
Administrative
Expense
Operating Expense
Net Total

Expense
$259,416
$64,922
$372,670
($178,176)

Assets and Liabilities Summary (Draft)
Assets
Checking/Savings
Accounts Receivable
Fixed Assets
Total Assets

$570,581
$171,887
$8,917
$751,385

Liabilities and Equity
Accounts Payable
Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

$153,252
$598,133
$751,385

Schedule of Bonds and Notes Outstanding
Outstanding at End of
Fiscal Year

Project Code

Name of Project

None

$25,000,000

None

LeMoyne College
Upstate Properties Dev.,
Inc.
LeMoyne College 2012
YMCA of Greater
Syracuse, Inc.

None

Jewish Home of CNY, Inc.

$18,145,000

None

LeMoyne College 2015

$15,000,000

None

OCC HDC 2015

$24,345,000

None

Dig Safely New York Inc.

$6,000,000

None

LeMoyne College 2018

$12,945,000

None
None

Four-Year Financial Plan
Appendix F
Bond, Legal and Audit Detail
Appendix I

$29,350,000
$17,030,000
$17,000,000

Appendices

Appendix A

BOARD BIOGRAPHIES
Benjamin Dublin
Ben Dublin is a Senior Vice President for Mercury, a high-stakes public strategy firm that
provides results for the world’s most successful companies, leading advocacy groups,
governments, political parties, NGOs, and prominent public and political figures. Prior to
joining Mercury, Ben served as Chief of Staff to Onondaga County Executive Joanie Mahoney.
In this position, he assisted the County Executive in overseeing all facets of County
Government; with a particular focus on media and communications, emergency and crisis
management, economic development and intergovernmental relations. Ben joined the
corporation in 2014 and lives in Manlius, NY.

Matthew Marko
Matthew Marko is a New York State licensed Professional Engineer, an American Academy of
Environmental Engineers Board Certified Environmental Engineer, and Fellow of the American
Society of Civil Engineers. Mr. Marko is currently the New York State Department of
Environmental Conservation Region 7 Director, taking that position in October of 2016. In 2008
Matthew was appointed by the New York State Governor to serve as Trustee for the SUNY
College of Environmental Science and Forestry, where he currently serves as Chair. In 2014 he
was appointed by Onondaga County Executive Joanne Mahoney and Legislature Chairman Ryan
McMahon as Director of the Onondaga Civic Development Corporation. He’s a graduate of the
University at Buffalo, and studied abroad at the University of North London. He is well known
for his presentations and publications on civic infrastructure, specifically green storm water
infrastructure, and embracing a style of adaptive management. Matthew resides in the City of
Syracuse with his incredibly patient and supportive wife Carrie, and two active young boys
Jackson and Cooper.

Alison K. Miller
Alison Miller has spent nearly her entire career in commercial banking in Upstate New York.
She moved to the Syracuse area in 1997 and is presently the Central NY Commercial Market
Executive for Five Star Bank. Ms. Miller has her MBA with a concentration in Finance from
LeMoyne College and is an Executive Leadership graduate of Cornell University. She is on the
Syracuse Regional Loan Committee for the New York Business Development Corp (NYBDC),
Board Member of Juvenile Diabetes Research Fund (JDRF), and Advisory Board Member for
Elmcrest Children’s Center. She resides in Skaneateles, NY.

Michael La Flair
Michael La Flair currently serves as the Director of Marketing & Community Relations for
Housing Visions Unlimited, Inc., a not-for-profit Developer, General Contractor, and Property
Manager. He also serves as a Town Councilor representing the Second Ward in the Town of
Camillus. In addition, Michael is a member of the Board of Director’s for the Onondaga Citizens
League and the Syracuse Northeast Community Center. Previously, he worked in private, notprofit and government sectors. Michael earned a B.S in Business Management from Le Moyne
College and also holds a Masters in Business Administration, with a concentration on
Leadership from Le Moyne College. He has been married to his wife Stacey for 20 years and
they are the proud parents of three daughters.
Dennis Duval
Dennis DuVal is the President of Hofmann Sausage Company, one of Central New York’s oldest
and most recognizable brands. Dennis has over 30 years of executive management experience
in both the public and private sector. A graduate of Syracuse University, Dennis was an
Academic All American, Two-time Basketball All American, Syracuse University All-Century
Team Member, Letterman of Distinction, and a member of the Syracuse Hall of Fame. In
addition he is a former NBA Player of the Washington Bullets, and the Atlanta Hawks. Dennis
began his 26-year public service career with the Syracuse Police Department in 1978, becoming
the department's first African American Police Chief. The many awards and designations
accrued throughout his tenure included-2 Syracuse Police Department Medals of Valor, the
Syracuse Police Department Meritorious Medal, Governor Cuomo’s Certificate of Valor, the
Pioneer in Law Enforcement Award, and the Onondaga County Veteran Association’s Citizen of
the Year Award. Upon retirement from public service and with nearly 3 decades of direct
management experience, Dennis transitioned to the private sector as CEO/President and
Founder of DevMar Associates, Inc., a successful government contracts compliance firm
specializing in criminal justice strategies, international police programs, and Department of
State contracting. Dennis has served as a member and advisor on a number of diverse boards
and committees including Syracuse University Whitman School of Management, DynCorp
International Civpol Program, Vantos Inc, Boys and Girls Club of Syracuse, Onondaga County
NAACP, Vera House, Urban Young Life, Onondaga County New York DA Advisory Board,
Onondaga County New York DA office Prescription Drug Task Force, and Trust Solutions.
Dennis and his wife Jacki live in Manlius, New York with daughter Marisa and son Devin.

Richard Zaccaria
Rick Zaccaria is an entrepreneur and inventor, starting his first business at age 17. He is a New
York State licensed Master Hearing Instrument Dispenser and Certified Dispenser trainer. Mr.
Zaccaria is currently the President/CEO of Zaccaria Development LLC and operates a chain of
local, retail shipping & printing outlets. He was previously CEO of his own Audiology and
Hearing aid practice, growing the business several locations strong before selling the company

to an international hearing aid manufacturer in 2012. In 2010 Mr. Zaccaria was granted his first
U.S. Patent, US8542842B2, for a Remote Programming System for digital hearing aids. He
currently has other inventions in various stages of development. Mr. Zaccaria is very active in
his community, serving on several local charitable and governmental boards, including the
Onondaga Civic Development Corporation. He lives in Baldwinsville with his lovely wife, Natalie,
and has three children, Kaitlyn, Morgan, and Gabriel and two grandsons, Jayson and Alexander.

Ravi Raman
Ravi Raman is the Principal and Co-Founder of RAM-TECH Engineers’. He has thirty-five (35)
years of experience as a Project Manager and Electrical / Mechanical Engineer. His expertise
includes the management of mechanical, plumbing, fire protection, electrical and cogeneration
systems, and has extensive experience designing mechanical, power, lighting and special
systems. He has served as the Project Manager, Engineer and Field Representative for a variety
of different projects, including hospitals, nursing homes, psychiatric centers, correctional
institutions, public schools, universities, governmental buildings and commercial / industrial
facilities.

James W. Jordan
Mr. James W. Jordan, Lincoln University Class of 1988, was born and raised in the NW section of
Washington, DC. After school, Mr. Jordan settled in Syracuse, New York and in 1991 formed a
multi-faceted service and construction management corporation (Omega QSE, Inc.). Since the
inception of the corporation, Omega grew from a 2-man operation to a 1,500 employee, multimillion dollar business servicing the entire eastern seaboard. Mr. Jordan owned and oversaw
Omega for 21 years before getting an offer he could not refuse and sold the corporation in
2012.
Prior to and during Mr. Jordan’s establishment of his business enterprises, he had been
intimately involved with several major construction, facilities management and maintenance
projects. The projects included but were not limited to:
•
$180,000,000.00 Syracuse City School Renovation Project
•
$60,000,000.00 Hancock International Airport Expansion
•
$35,000,000.00 University Hospital – Vision 2010 Project
•
$15,750,000.00 Westover Air Force Base - Change of Occupancy & Grounds Multi Year
Maintenance Contract
•
$4,500,000.00 Renovation of Military Family Housing
•
$4,275,890.00 Construction of a Training Command Complex
Mr. Jordan has served on several boards to include but not limited to:
•
Lincoln University Board of Trustees

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The Lake Front Development Corporation
Metropolitan Development Association
The Community Foundation
National Federation of Independent Business
Professional Housing Management Association
Onondaga County Convention Center
Omega Psi Phi Credit Union

Everyone who knows Mr. Jordan knows his love for his alma mater. In 2007 Mr. Jordan
established an endowment at Lincoln University that provides scholarship opportunities to
young men trying to enhance their educational dreams.
Mr. Jordan has been honored by Continental Who’s Who as their 2011 Pinnacle Professional of
the Year, Lincoln University, as the 2009 distinguished alumni of the year and 2008 President’s
Award; The Small Business Administration’s Business Man of the Year; 40 under 40, Black
Enterprise and several other organizations.
Mr. Jordan is married to his wife, Helena and they have four children, Andre, Erica, Gabrielle
and James II.

Appendix B

2018 BOARD PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS
SUMMARY
2018 Board Self Evaluation
Criteria
Board members have a shared understanding of
the mission and purpose of the Agency.
The policies, practices and decisions of the Board
are always consistent with this mission.
Board members comprehend their role and
fiduciary responsibilities and hold themselves and
each other to these principles.
The Board has adopted policies, by-laws, and
practices for the governance, management and
operations of the Agency & reviews these annually.
The decisions made by Board members are arrived
at through independent judgment and deliberation,
free of political influence, pressure or self-interest.
Individual Board members communicate effectively
with executive staff so as to be well informed on
the status of all important issues.
Board members are knowledgeable about the
Agency’s programs, financial statements, reporting
requirements, and other transactions.
The Board meets to review and approve all
documents and reports prior to public release and
is confident that the information being presented is
accurate and complete.
The Board knows the statutory obligations of the
Agency and if the Agency is in compliance with
state law.
Board and committee meetings facilitate open,
deliberate and thorough discussion, and the active
participation of members.
Board members have sufficient opportunity review
material and discuss recommendations before
decisions are made and votes taken.
Individual Board members feel empowered to
delay votes, defer agenda items, or table actions if
they feel additional information or discussion is
required.
The Board works with management to implement
risk mitigation strategies before problems occur.
Board members demonstrate leadership and vision
and work respectfully with each other.

Agree

Somewhat
Agree

Somewhat
Disagree

6
5

1

6
6
6
5

1

4

1

6
5

1

5

1

5

1

6
6
6

*6 of 7 Board Members Replied - 1 Board Member did not complete the evaluation.

Disagree

Did Not
Answer

SUMMARY
Confidential OCDC Staff Evaluation

Criteria
Does the staff have an understanding of the
mission, duties & responsibilities of the Agency?

Agree

Does the staff sufficiently fulfill the Board’s
administrative duties?
Does the staff provide the Board with the
information necessary for the Board to fulfill its
duties in a prudent and timely manner?

6

Does the staff encourage open discussion at
Agency meetings by presenting information and
responding to inquiries from board members,
clearly and openly?
Does the staff acknowledge to the Board a financial
or other conflict of interest, as defined in Agency
policy, with any project that may come before the
Board during a staff member’s tenure with the
Board?
Has each staff member submitted executed copies
of each administrative document required of
him/her by the County Legislature, State Statute or
Regulation, or Board policies?

Somewhat
Agree

Somewhat
Disagree

Disagree

Did Not
Answer

6

5

1

6

6

5

*6 of 7 Board Members Replied - 1 Board Member did not complete the evaluation.

1

SUMMARY
FINANCE COMMITTEE
Confidential Committee Self-Evaluations

Criteria
Do Committee members understand the
Committee’s charter, duties & responsibilities as
exhibited by its formal agendas, actions and
reports?
Is the Committee comprised of members who are
independent as defined by the NYS Authorities
Budget Office and who bring a body of expertise,
knowledge, and experience necessary to
understand and fulfill the goals and duties of the
Committee?
Does the Committee require a member to recuse
him/herself if an appearance of a financial or other
conflict might appear to influence a vote of the
committee member or the committee as a whole?
Does the Committee require a member to
acknowledge a financial conflict of interest, as
defined in Board policy, with any project or action
that has come before the Committee during the
tenure of the Committee member?
Does the Committee receive advance copies of
agendas and supporting material necessary for it to
make an informed determinations or
recommendations to the Board?
Does the Committee acknowledge and encourage
open discussion by its members and staff during
committee meetings?
Does the Committee present a self-evaluation to
the Board annually, including an examination the
Committee Charter?

Agree

Somewhat
Agree

Somewhat
Disagree

Disagree

3

3

3

3

2

1

3
3

*3 of 4 Committee Members Replied - 1 Committee Member did not complete the evaluation.

SUMMARY
AUDIT COMMITTEE
Confidential Committee Self-Evaluations

Criteria
Do Committee members understand the
Committee’s charter, duties & responsibilities as
exhibited by its formal agendas, actions and
reports?
Is the Committee comprised of members who are
independent as defined by the NYS Authorities
Budget Office and who bring a body of expertise,
knowledge, and experience necessary to
understand and fulfill the goals and duties of the
Committee?
Does the Committee require a member to recuse
him/herself if an appearance of a financial or other
conflict might appear to influence a vote of the
committee member or the committee as a whole?
Does the Committee require a member to
acknowledge a financial conflict of interest, as
defined in Board policy, with any project or action
that has come before the Committee during the
tenure of the Committee member?
Does the Committee receive advance copies of
agendas and supporting material necessary for it to
make an informed determinations or
recommendations to the Board?
Does the Committee acknowledge and encourage
open discussion by its members and staff during
committee meetings?
Does the Committee present a self-evaluation to
the Board annually, including an examination the
Committee Charter?

Agree

Somewhat
Agree

3

1

Somewhat
Disagree

Disagree

4

3

1

4

4
4
4

*4 of 5 Committee Members Replied - 1 Committee Member did not complete the evaluation.

SUMMARY
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Confidential Committee Self-Evaluation

Criteria
Do Committee members understand the
Committee’s charter, duties & responsibilities as
exhibited by its formal agendas, actions and
reports?
Is the Committee comprised of members who are
independent as defined by the NYS Authorities
Budget Office and who bring a body of expertise,
knowledge, and experience necessary to
understand and fulfill the goals and duties of the
Committee?
Does the Committee require a member to recuse
him/herself if an appearance of a financial or other
conflict might appear to influence a vote of the
committee member or the committee as a whole?
Does the Committee require a member to
acknowledge a financial conflict of interest, as
defined in Board policy, with any project or action
that has come before the Committee during the
tenure of the Committee member?
Does the Committee receive advance copies of
agendas and supporting material necessary for it to
make an informed determinations or
recommendations to the Board?
Does the Committee acknowledge and encourage
open discussion by its members and staff during
committee meetings?
Does the Committee present a self-evaluation to
the Board annually, including an examination the
Committee Charter?

Agree

Somewhat
Agree

Somewhat
Disagree

Disagree

4

4

4

4

3

1

4
4

*4 of 5 Committee Members Replied - 1 Committee Member did not complete the evaluation.

Appendix C
BY-LAWS
OF
ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Adopted October 14, 2010
ARTICLE I - THE CORPORATION

SECTION 1. - NAME.
The Corporation shall be known as the "ONONDAGA CIVIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION."
SECTION 2. - OFFICES.
The principal office of the Corporation shall be located in the County of Onondaga (the "County"). The
Corporation may also have offices at such other places within the State of New York as the Board of Directors may
from time to time determine or the activities of the Corporation may require.
SECTION 3. - PURPOSES.
The Corporation shall have such purposes as are now or hereafter set forth in its Certificate of
Incorporation.

ARTICLE II - MEMBERSHIP

SECTION 1. - COMPOSITION OF MEMBERSHIP.
The sole Member of the Corporation shall be the County Executive of Onondaga County, ex officio. The
Corporation shall be managed by its Board of Directors in accordance with the provisions contained herein.
SECTION 2. - RIGHTS AND POWERS OF THE MEMBERS.
The Members shall have and exercise all the rights and powers of corporate membership created by the
laws of the State of New York, the Certificate of Incorporation and the By-Laws of the Corporation.
SECTION 3. - ANNUAL MEETING OF THE CORPORATION
The Members shall hold an annual meeting of the Corporation within six months after the end of each
fiscal year at a convenient time and place designated by the Members. At the annual meeting, Directors shall be
appointed pursuant to Article III hereof for positions where a new directorship is created or the term of a class of
Director has expired, receive the annual report and transact such other business as may properly come before the
meeting.
SECTION 4. - ANNUAL REPORT TO THE MEMBERS AND THE ONONDAGA COUNTY LEGISLATURE.
At the annual meeting of the Corporation, the Directors or designated officer of the Corporation shall
present an annual report showing in appropriate detail the following information:

(a)
A complete verified or audited financial statement of the Corporation for the fiscal year
immediately preceding the date of the report showing the assets and liabilities, principal changes in assets and
liabilities, revenue, receipts, expenses and disbursements of the Corporation; and
(b)

A summary of the activities of the Corporation during the preceding year.

(c)

Said statement and summary as set forth in (a) and (b) above shall be delivered to the Clerk of
the Onondaga County Legislature within five (5) days of presentation to the Members.

The annual report shall be filed with the minutes of the annual meeting.
SECTION 5. - SPECIAL MEETINGS OF THE CORPORATION.
Special meetings of the Corporation may be called at any time by the Members and shall be called by the
Secretary within fourteen (14) days of receipt of a written request from the Members. Such request shall state the
purpose or purposes for the proposed meeting. Business transacted at a special meeting shall be confined to the
purposes stated in the notice of such special meeting; provided, however, if by unanimous consent all of the
Members present at such meeting elect to transact business not previously described in the aforementioned
notice, then the Corporation may transact such other business.
SECTION 6. - PLACE OF MEETINGS; ORGANIZATION
All membership meetings shall be held at the principal office of the Corporation or at such other
convenient location as may be determined by the Members. At each membership meeting, the Members shall
preside. The Secretary, or, in his or her absence, a person chosen by the Members, shall keep complete and
accurate minutes of the meeting.
SECTION 7. - NOTICE OF MEMBERSHIP MEETINGS; WAIVERS
(a)
Notice of each membership meeting shall state the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is
called, the place, date and time of the meeting and, unless it is the annual meeting, shall indicate that it is being
issued by or at the direction of the person or persons calling the meeting. Such notice shall be given either
personally or by mail to each Member not less than ten (10) nor more than fifty (50) days before the date of the
meeting. If mailed, the notice is given when deposited in the United States mail, with postage thereon prepaid,
directed to a Member at his or her address as it appears on the record of Members or, if he or she shall have filed
with the Secretary a written request that notices be mailed to some other address, then directed to such other
address.
(b)
Formal notice of meeting need not be given to a Member if he or she executes a waiver of
notice, either before or after the meeting. The attendance of a Member at a meeting, without protesting prior to
the conclusion of the meeting the lack of notice of such meeting, shall constitute a waiver of notice.
SECTION 8. – QUORUM OF MEMBERS
(a)
The presence of at least a majority of the Members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction
of business at any annual or special membership meeting.
(b)
A majority of the Members present at a meeting, whether or not a quorum is present, may
adjourn any membership meeting to another time and place. Notice of the time and place of holding an adjourned
meeting need not be given to absent Members if the time and place is announced at the meeting adjourned.
SECTION 9. - ACTION BY THE MEMBERS

(a)
Each Member shall be entitled to one vote on each matter properly submitted to the Members
for action at any meeting of the Members. Unless otherwise required by law or these By-Laws, the vote of a
majority of Members present at the time of a vote at a duly convened meeting, provided a quorum is then present,
shall be the act of the Members.
(b)
Every Member entitled to vote at a meeting of Members may authorize another person or
persons to act for him or her by proxy. Every proxy must be signed by the Member or the Member’s attorney-infact. No proxy shall be valid after the expiration of eleven (11) months from the date thereof unless otherwise
provided in the proxy. Every proxy shall be revocable at the pleasure of the Member executing it, except as
otherwise provided by law.
SECTION 10. - PROPERTY RIGHTS OF MEMBERS
The Members shall not have any rights or interests in or to the property or assets of the Corporation.

ARTICLE III - BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SECTION 1. - POWER OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS.
The Corporation shall be managed by its Board of Directors, which shall establish all general policies
governing its operations.
SECTION 2. - NUMBER, ELECTION AND TERM OF DIRECTORS.
(a)
The number of voting Directors shall be no more than seven, with three (3) voting Directors
appointed by the Chairman of the Onondaga County Legislature, three (3) voting Directors appointed by the
County Executive, and one (1) additional voting director of the Corporation jointly appointed by a majority of the
Onondaga County Legislature and the County Executive all subject to confirmation by the Onondaga County
Legislature. The voting Directors shall exercise all rights of Directors as described herein and in the Certificate of
Incorporation and any applicable resolution. Any subsequent increase or decrease in the size of the Board of
Directors shall be in multiples of two with one Director from Class A and one Director from Class B constituting one
of the two in each multiple. Any change in the number of Directors will also require the affirmative vote of 6/7 of
the entire Board of Directors, together with approval by each appointing authority and the Onondaga County
Legislature. The voting Directors shall exercise all rights of Directors as described herein and in the Certificate of
Incorporation or any applicable resolution. As used in these By-Laws, "the entire Board of voting Directors" means
the total number of voting Directors that the Corporation would have if there were no vacancies on the Board.
(b)
The voting Directors shall be divided into classes as follows: there shall be three Class A Directors
chosen by the County Executive, one of which Directors shall serve an initial term of two years, one of which
Directors shall serve an initial term of three years and one of which Directors shall serve an initial term of four
years; there shall be three Class B Directors chosen by the Chairman of the Onondaga County Legislature, one of
which Directors shall serve an initial term of two years, one of which Directors shall serve an initial term of three
years and one of which Directors shall serve an initial term of four years. All Class A and Class B appointments shall
be confirmed by the Onondaga County Legislature. There shall be one class C Director chosen jointly by the
County Executive and a majority of the Onondaga County Legislature who shall serve an initial term of three years.
After the initial term, each Class shall serve three year terms.
(c)

Voting Directors shall be eligible to serve an unlimited number of consecutive terms.

(d)
Neither the President/Chief Executive Officer nor the Treasurer/Chief Financial Officer shall serve
as Directors of the Corporation.
(e)
All Directors of the Board appointed after January 15, 2006 shall participate in training approved
by the State of New York regarding their legal, fiduciary, financial and ethical responsibilities as Directors within
one (1) year of appointment to the Board. All other Directors of the Board shall participate in such continuing
training as may be required to remain informed of best practices, regulatory and statutory changes relating to the
effective oversight of the management and financial activities of the Corporation and the adhere to the highest
standards of responsible governance.
(f)
As soon as practicable and in compliance with Section 2825 of the Public Authorities Law, the
majority of the Directors shall be Independent Directors, as such term is defined in paragraph (g) below.
(g)

Independence. For the purposes of these By-Laws, an Independent means any person who:

(i)
is not, and in the past two (2) years has not been, employed by the Corporation or
another corporate body having the same ownership and control of the Corporation in an executive
capacity;
(ii)
is not, and in the past two (2) years has not been, employed by an entity that received
remuneration valued at more than fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000.00) for goods and services provided
to the Corporation or received any other form of financial assistance valued at more than fifteen
thousand dollars ($15,000.00) from the Corporation;
(iii)
is not a relative of an executive officer or employee in an executive position of the
Corporation or another corporate body having the same ownership and control of the Corporation; and
(iv)
is not, and in the past two (2) years has not been, a lobbyist registered under a state or
local law and paid by a client to influence the management decisions, contract awards, rate
determinations or any other similar actions of the Corporation or another corporate body having the
same ownership and control of the Corporation.
SECTION 3. - RESIGNATIONS AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS.
(a)
Any Director of the Corporation may resign at any time by giving written notice to the other
Directors or to the President or the Secretary. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein or, if
no time is specified, then on delivery. Acceptance of the resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.
(b)
Any Director may be removed from the Board with or without cause by the affirmative vote of
the appointing authority and the affirmative vote of 6/7 of the entire Board of Directors. .
SECTION 4. - NEWLY CREATED DIRECTORSHIPS AND VACANCIES.
Newly created directorships resulting from an increase in the number of Directors, and vacancies
occurring for any reason, shall be filled as follows: any vacancies in a Class A Director shall be filled by the County
Executive, subject to confirmation by the County Legislature, any vacancy in a Class B Director shall be filled by the
Chairman of the County Legislature, subject to confirmation by the County Legislature and any vacancy in Class C
shall be filled jointly by the County Executive and a majority of the County Legislature subject to confirmation by
the Onondaga County Legislature. Such vacancies shall be filled as soon as practicable but in no event later than
sixty (60) days after the increase or vacancy occurs. A Director elected to fill a vacancy caused by resignation,
death, disability or removal shall hold office for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor in office and until a
successor is elected and takes office.

SECTION 5. - ANNUAL MEETING.
The annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held after the annual meeting of the Corporation
described in Article II, Section 3 above at a convenient time and location designated by the Board. Written notice
of the annual meeting shall be mailed or delivered to each voting Director of the Corporation prior to the meeting.
SECTION 6. - ANNUAL REPORT.
A Director designated by the Members or the President and the Treasurer shall present at the annual
meeting of the Board of Directors a copy of the annual report described in Article II, Section 4 above.
SECTION 7. - SPECIAL MEETINGS AND NOTICE.
Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called at any time by a two Directors or by the
President or any other officer of the Corporation. Written notice shall be mailed or delivered to each voting
Director of the Corporation prior to the meeting. Said notice shall state the purposes, time and place of the special
meeting and that no business other than that specified in the notice may be transacted; provided, however, if by
unanimous consent all of the Directors present at such meeting elect to transact business not previously described
in the aforementioned notice, then the Directors may transact such other business.
SECTION 8. - WAIVERS OF NOTICE.
Notice of a meeting need not be given to any voting Director who submits a signed waiver of notice
whether before or after the meeting, or who attends the meeting without protesting, prior thereto or at its
commencement, the lack of notice to him or her.
SECTION 9. - PLACE OF MEETINGS.
The Board of Directors may hold its meetings at such place or places within or outside the State of New
York as the voting Directors may from time to time by resolution determine.
SECTION 10. – OPEN MEETINGS
The Corporation is subject to Open Meetings Law, the Corporation shall comply with the Open Meetings
Law of the State of New York, as set forth within Article 7 of the Public Officers Law.
SECTION 11. – FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
The Corporation is subject to Freedom of Information Law, the Corporation shall comply with the
Freedom of Information Law of the State of New York, as set forth within Article 6 of the Public Officers Law.
SECTION 12. – PUBLIC AUTHORITIES ACCOUNTABILITY ACT
The Corporation is subject to the Public Authorities Accountability Act of 2005 (the “PAAA”) and shall
comply with the PAAA, as set forth within the New York State Public Authorities Law.
SECTION 13. – STATE ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY REVIEW ACT
Upon the determination of the Board of Directors to do business with the State of New York, the
Corporation shall comply with the State Environmental Quality Review Act, as set forth within Article 8 of the New
York Environmental Conservation Law.
SECTION 14. - QUORUM AND ADJOURNED MEETINGS.

(a)
A majority of the entire Board of voting Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of
business at meetings of the Board. When a quorum is once present to organize a meeting, it shall not be broken
by the subsequent withdrawal of any Director(s).
(b)
A majority of the voting Directors present, whether or not a quorum is present, may adjourn any
Board meeting to another time and place. If a quorum is present at the adjourned meeting, any business may be
transacted that might have been transacted on the original date of the meeting. Notice of the adjourned meeting
shall be given to all voting Directors.
SECTION 15. - ACTION BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS.
Any corporate action to be taken by the Board of Directors means action at a meeting of the Board. Each
voting Director shall have one vote regarding any corporate action to be taken by the Board. Except as otherwise
provided in Section 14(b) above, the vote of a majority of the voting Directors of the entire Board shall be the act
of the Board of Directors. All references to actions of the Board of Directors herein and in the Certificate of
Incorporation shall mean the affirmative vote of a majority of the entire Board of Directors.
SECTION 16. - ORGANIZATION.
At each meeting of the Board of Directors, a chairperson chosen by a majority of the voting Directors shall
preside. The Secretary, or, in his or her absence, a person chosen by a majority of the voting Directors present,
shall keep complete and accurate minutes of the meeting.
SECTION 17. - ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS.
Attendance at each meeting of the Board shall be recorded by the Secretary or the designated Director in
the minutes thereof.
SECTION 18. - COMPENSATION.
The Directors shall serve without compensation.
expenses incurred in the performance of corporate duties.

All Directors may be reimbursed for reasonable

SECTION 19. - ANNUAL INDEPENDENT AUDIT.
The Audit Committee shall present to the Board upon its completion, the annual independent audit
report performed in accordance with the requirements of the PAAA and generally accepted government auditing
standards certified by a firm of independent public accountants. The certified independent public accounting firm
that performs the annual independent audit shall timely report to the Audit Committee the following:
(i)
the assets and liabilities, including the status of reserve, depreciation, special or other funds
including the receipts and payments of such funds, of the Corporation as of the end of the fiscal year;
(ii)

the principal changes in assets and liabilities, including trust funds, during said fiscal period;

(iii)
the revenue or receipts of the Corporation, both unrestricted and restricted, to particular
purposes during said fiscal period;
(iv)
the expenses or disbursements of the Corporation for both general and restricted purposes,
during said fiscal period; and

(v)

a schedule of the bonds and notes of the Corporation outstanding during said fiscal period,
including all refinancings, calls, refundings, defeasements, and interest rate exchange or other
such agreements, and for any debt issued during the fiscal period, together with a statement of
the amounts redeemed and incurred during such fiscal period as a part of a schedule of debt
issuance that include the date of issuance, term, amount, interest rate, means of repayment and
cost of issuance.

(vi)

A copy of the reports set forth in (i) through (v) above shall be presented to the Clerk of the
Onondaga County Legislature within five (5) days of presentation to the Board.

Furthermore, the certified independent public accounting firm that performs the annual independent
audit shall timely report to the Audit Committee the following:
(i)

all critical accounting policies and practices to be used;

(ii)
all alternative treatments of financial information within generally accepted accounting
principles that have been discussed with the management of the Corporation, ramifications of the use of such
alternative disclosures and treatments, and the treatment preferred by the certified independent public
accounting firm;
(iii)
other material written communications between the certified independent public accounting
firm and the management of the Corporation, such as the management letter along with management’s response
or plan of corrective action, material corrections identified or schedule of unadjusted differences, where
applicable.
SECTION 20. - PROPERTY RIGHTS.
No Director of the corporation shall, by reason of that position, have any rights to or interest in the
property or assets of the Corporation.

ARTICLE IV - COMMITTEES

SECTION 1. - STANDING COMMITTEES.
(a)
The Standing Committees of the Board shall be as described in subparagraph (b) below. Except
as otherwise provided by these By-Laws, each Standing Committee shall consist of at least one voting Director. No
Standing Committee shall have authority as to the following matters:

(b)
Committees:

(i)

The submission to the Members of any action requiring its approval;

(ii)

The filling of vacancies on the Board of Directors or any committee;

(iii)

The amendment or repeal of these By-Laws or the adoption of new By-Laws; or

(iv)

The amendment or repeal of any resolution of the Board which by its terms is not so
amendable or repealable.

Until changed by amendment of these By-Laws, the Corporation shall have the following

Audit Committee. There shall be an Audit Committee consisting entirely of Independent members, who
shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast by the Directors of the Corporation at each annual meeting of the
Board and shall serve until the next annual meeting. To the extent practicable, members of the Audit Committee
should be familiar with corporate financial and accounting practices. The Audit Committee shall recommend to
the Board the hiring of a certified independent accounting firm in compliance with the PAAA to conduct the annual
independent audit, establish the compensation to be paid to the accounting firm and provide direct oversight of
the performance of the annual independent audit.
Governance Committee. There shall be a Governance Committee consisting entirely of Independent
members, who shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast by the Directors of the Corporation at each annual
meeting of the Directors and shall serve until the next annual meeting. The Governance Committee shall keep the
Board informed of current best governance practices, review corporate governance trends, update the
Corporation’s corporate governance principles, and advise the Members and the Chairman of the Onondaga
County Legislature on the skills and experience required of potential Directors.
SECTION 2. - SPECIAL COMMITTEES.
The Board of Directors, by resolution adopted by a majority of the entire Board of voting Directors, may
create Special Committees, which shall have only the powers specifically delegated to them and shall in no case
have powers which are not authorized for Standing Committees. The members of Special Committees shall be
appointed by a plurality of the votes cast by the Directors of the Corporation.
SECTION 3. - MEETINGS.
Meetings of committees shall be held at such times and places as shall be fixed by the respective
committee chairpersons, or by vote of a majority of all of the members of the committee. Written notice shall be
mailed (via regular mail or electronic mail) or delivered to all members of the committee prior to each meeting.
Written minutes of the proceedings shall be kept at all committee meetings and shall be submitted at the next
meeting of the Board. The President, or his or her designee, may attend all committee meetings, but does not
possess any voting rights.
SECTION 4. - QUORUM.
Unless otherwise provided by resolution of the Board of Directors, a majority of all of the members of a
committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.
SECTION 5. - MANNER OF ACTING.
Any corporate action to be taken by a committee shall mean such action to be taken at a meeting of the
committee. Action by a committee shall be taken by majority vote at a meeting.

ARTICLE V - OFFICERS

SECTION 1. - PRESIDENT; VICE PRESIDENT; OTHER OFFICERS.
The Corporation may have a President/Chief Executive Officer, a Treasurer/Chief Financial Officer, and a
Secretary and other officers and assistant officers as the Board of Directors may determine. The offices of
President/Chief Executive Officer and Secretary shall not be held by the same person. No Director shall hold the
office of President/Chief Executive Officer or of Treasurer/Chief Financial Officer. The officers shall have such
duties as may be prescribed by these By-Laws and the Board of Directors.

SECTION 2. - TERMS OF OFFICERS.
The officers shall be appointed by the Board of Directors and, other than the President/Chief Executive
Officer and Treasurer/Chief Financial Officer, shall be appointed from among the members of the Board at its
annual meeting. Should a Director be appointed President/Chief Executive Officer, Treasurer/Chief Financial
Officer, said Director must resign as a condition of qualifying for such office. Unless a shorter term is provided in
the resolution of the Board appointing such officer, the term of office of each officer shall extend for one year after
his or her appointment and until a successor is appointed and qualified. Officers shall be eligible to serve an
unlimited number of consecutive terms.
SECTION 3. - ADDITIONAL OFFICERS.
Additional officers may be appointed for such period, have such authority and perform such duties, either
in an administrative or subordinate capacity, as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine. Such
positions may include an Acting Chief Financial Officer and Acting Secretary, and any other position established by
the Board of Directors from time to time.
SECTION 4. - REMOVAL OF OFFICERS.
Any officer may be removed by majority vote of the voting Directors, with or without cause, at any time.
SECTION 5. - RESIGNATION.
Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board of Directors, the President or the
Secretary. Any such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein, or, if no time is specified, then on
delivery. Acceptance of the resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.
SECTION 6. - VACANCIES.
A vacancy in any office of the Corporation shall be filled by the majority vote of the entire Board of voting
Directors as provided for in Section 2 of Article V above.
SECTION 7. – PRESIDENT/CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER.
The Board of Directors shall appoint the President/Chief Executive Officer by resolution, which resolution
shall set the President/Chief Executive Officer’s annual compensation. The President shall be the Chief Executive
Officer of the Corporation and shall generally supervise all its affairs. The President shall perform such other duties
as may be assigned to him or her from time to time by the Board of Directors.
SECTION 8. - SECRETARY.
The Board of Directors shall appoint the Secretary by resolution, which resolution shall set the Secretary’s
annual compensation. It shall be the duty of the Secretary to supervise the preparation of minutes of all meetings
of the Members and the Board of Directors and its committees, the giving of all notices required to be given by the
Corporation, and the keeping of a current list of the Members of the Corporation, Directors and officers and their
residence addresses. The Secretary shall be responsible for supervising the preparation and maintenance of the
books and records of the Corporation. The Secretary shall attend to such correspondence as may be assigned to
him or her and perform all the duties customarily incidental to that office and such other duties as may be
assigned to him or her by the Board of Directors or the President. From time to time, the Board of Directors may
designate duties of the Secretary to an appointed Acting Secretary who will perform such duties as may be
assigned to him or her.
SECTION 9. – TREASURER/CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER.

The Board of Directors shall appoint the Treasurer/ Chief Financial Officer by resolution, which resolution
shall set the Treasurer/Chief Financial Officer’s annual compensation. It shall be the duty of the Treasurer, as Chief
Financial Officer of the Corporation, to oversee the financial affairs of the Corporation, report at each regular
meeting of the Board of Directors, and participate in preparing the annual report of the Corporation and the filing
of all required tax returns and other regulatory reports. The Treasurer shall be the Contracting Officer of the
Corporation for the disposition of real and personal property in accordance with the provisions of the PAAA. The
Treasurer shall be the Freedom of Information Officer of the Corporation in accordance with the provisions of the
New York State Freedom of Information Law. The Treasurer shall perform such other duties as may be assigned to
him or her by the Board of Directors or the President. From time to time, the Board of Directors may employ or
contract with an appointed Acting Treasurer to whom the Board of Directors may designate certain duties of the
Treasurer and other such duties as may be assigned to him or her.
SECTION 10. - COUNTY PERSONNEL.
The Corporation may use the agents, employees and facilities of the County. In such event, the
Corporation will, by resolution, enter into a contract with the County providing the terms upon which the County
will provide the use of its agents, employees and facilities to the Corporation and the compensation, if any, that
the Corporation shall pay to the County for the use by the Corporation of the County’s agents, employees and
facilities.

ARTICLE VI - CONTRACTS, CHECKS, DRAFTS AND BANK ACCOUNTS
SECTION 1. - EXECUTION OF CONTRACTS.
The Board of Directors may on its own, except as these By-Laws otherwise provide, or may authorize any
officer or officers, agent or agents, employee or employees, in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation, to
enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument, and such authority may be general or confined to
specific instances; but, unless so authorized by the Board of Directors, or expressly authorized by these By-Laws,
no officer, agent or employee shall have any power or authority to bind the Corporation by any contract or
engagement or to pledge its credit or to render it liable pecuniarily in any amount for any purpose.
SECTION 2. - LOANS.
No loans shall be contracted on behalf of the Corporation unless specifically authorized by the Board of
Directors.
SECTION 3. - CHECKS, DRAFTS, ETC.
All checks, drafts and other orders for the payment of money out of the funds of the Corporation, and all
notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Corporation, must be signed on behalf of the Corporation by a
designated Director, the President, Vice-President or Chief Executive Officer and the Secretary, Treasurer or Acting
Secretary.
SECTION 4. - DEPOSITS.
All funds of the Corporation not otherwise employed shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of
the Corporation in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as the Treasurer may recommend and the
Board of Directors approves.
SECTION 5. - INVESTMENTS.

The Board of Directors may authorize the Corporation to contract with an investment advisor and
custodian to manage its investments in accordance with an investment policy established by the Board.

ARTICLE VII - GENERAL

SECTION 1. - SEAL.
The corporate seal shall have inscribed thereon the name of the Corporation, the year of its organization,
and the words "Corporate Seal, New York." The seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be
impressed or affixed or otherwise reproduced.
SECTION 2. - BOOKS AND RECORDS.
There shall be kept by the Corporation (1) correct and complete books and records of account, (2)
minutes and statements of written action by the Members, (3) minutes of the proceedings of the Board of
Directors and its committees, (4) a current list of the Members, Directors and officers of the Corporation and their
residence addresses, (5) a copy of the Certificate of Incorporation, and (6) a copy of these By-Laws. The foregoing
items shall be subject to inspection and/or audit at any time by or at the direction of the Board of Directors.
SECTION 3. - INDEMNIFICATION.
The Corporation shall indemnify each Member, each Director, each officer, and, to the extent authorized
by the Board of Directors, each other person authorized to act for the Corporation or on its behalf, to the full
extent to which indemnification is permitted under the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law.
SECTION 4. - INTERESTED DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS.
The Board of Directors may adopt a policy regarding conflicts of interest which shall apply to all directors
and officers.
SECTION 5. - LOANS TO MEMBERS AND OFFICERS.
The Corporation, either directly or indirectly, including through any subsidiary, is prohibited from
extending or maintaining credit, arranging for the extension of credit or renewing any extension of credit, in the
form of a personal loan to or for any Member, Director, or Officer, or to any other company, corporation, firm,
association or other entity in which one or more of the Members, Directors or Officers of the Corporation are
members, director or officers or hold a substantial financial interest.

ARTICLE VIII - FISCAL YEAR
The fiscal year of the Corporation shall commence on the first day of January of each calendar year and
end on the last day of December.

ARTICLE IX - RULES OF ORDER AND BYLAW CHANGES

SECTION 1. - RULES OF ORDER.

Meetings of the Members and the Board of Directors and its committees shall be governed by Robert's
Rules of Order, except in cases otherwise provided for by these By-Laws.
SECTION 2. - BYLAW CHANGES.
These By-Laws may be amended, repealed or adopted only by the affirmative vote of 6/7 of the voting
Directors of the Corporation and approval of the appointing authorities and the Onondaga County Legislature.

Appendix D
CODE OF ETHICS
ARTICLE I. PURPOSE AND CONSTRUCTION

The Citizens of Onondaga County are entitled to expect the highest degree of conduct on the part of the Onondaga
Civic Development Corporation (the “Corporation”) officers, staff and directors. The directors of the Corporation
recognize that there must be rules of ethical conduct for its officers, staff and appointed officials to observe if a
high degree of moral conduct is to be obtained and if public confidence is to be maintained in the Corporation. It is
the purpose of this Code of Ethics to promulgate these rules of ethical conduct for the officers, staff and directors
of the Corporation. These rules shall serve as a guide for official conduct of such officers, staff and directors.
ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS
Section 2.1.
Unless otherwise specifically indicated, for purposes of this Code of Ethics, the following terms shall have
the following meanings:
(a)

"Corporation" means the Onondaga Civic Development Corporation.

(b)

"Appropriate body" pursuant to Article 18 of General Municipal Law means the Board of Ethics of
the County of Onondaga.

(c)

"Child" means any son, daughter, step-son or step-daughter of a Corporation officer, staff or
director if such child is under 18 or is a dependent of the officer, staff or director as defined in
the Internal Revenue Code Section 152(a)(1) and (2) and any amendments thereto.

(d)

"County" means the County of Onondaga.

(e)

"Interest" means a direct or indirect pecuniary or material benefit accruing to a Corporation
officer, staff or director, his or her spouse, or child whether as the result of a contract with the
Corporation or otherwise. For the purpose of this Code of Ethics, a Corporation officer, staff or
director shall be deemed to have an interest in the contract of (i) his/her spouse and children,
except a contract of employment with the Corporation (ii) a firm, partnership or association of
which such officer, staff or director or his/her spouse or child is a director or staff; (iii) a
corporation of which such officer, staff or director, or his/her spouse or child is an officer or
director; and (iv) a corporation of which more than 5% of the outstanding capital stock is owned
by an officer, staff or director, or his/her spouse or child.

(f)

"Relative" means a spouse or child of a Corporation officer, staff or director.

(g)

"Spouse" means the husband or wife of an officer, staff or director subject to the provisions of
this Code of Ethics unless legally separated from such officer, staff or director.
ARTICLE III. CODE OF ETHICS

There is hereby established and adopted a code of ethics containing the following standards of conduct
for officers, staff and directors of the Corporation.

Section 3.1.
(a)

Receipt or Benefit. They shall not directly or indirectly solicit, accept or agree to accept any
benefit from another person upon an agreement that his/her vote, opinion, judgment, action,
decision or exercise of discretion as a Corporation officer, staff or director will thereby be
influenced. A donation to a person seeking public or party office or to a committee supporting
the efforts of such person shall not be considered such a benefit hereunder.

(b)

Confidential Information. They shall not disclose information which is lawfully confidential and
acquired by them in the course of their official duties or use such information to further their
personal interests.

(c)

Representation before the Corporation. They shall not receive or enter into any agreement,
express or implied, for compensation or benefit to themselves or a relative, directly or indirectly,
for services to be rendered in relation to any matter before the Corporation.

(d)

Disclosure of interest in any Corporation Contract. To the extent that they know thereof, any
officer, staff or director of the Corporation who has any interest in any contract or agreement of
the Corporation shall make prior disclosure in writing to the Chairman of the Corporation and to
the Corporation’s Counsel and shall withdraw from participation in any Corporation process with
respect thereto, subject to Section 801 of the General Municipal Law relating to prohibited
conflicts of interest.

(f)

Partnership, unincorporated association or corporation. No partnership or unincorporated
association of which a Corporation officer, staff or director is a director or staff or in which he or
she has a proprietary interest, nor any corporation of which a Corporation officer, staff or
director is an officer or director or legally or beneficially owns or controls more than five percent
(5%) of the outstanding stock, shall appear before the Corporation without full disclosure to the
directors, subject to Section 801 of the General Municipal Law relating to prohibited conflicts of
interest.

(g)

Investments in conflict with official duties. An officer, staff or director shall not invest or hold
any investment directly or indirectly in any financial, business, commercial or other private
endeavor or entity, which creates a conflict with his or her Corporation duties.

(h)

Private employment or services. An officer, staff or director shall not engage in, solicit, negotiate
for or promise to accept employment or render services for private interests when such
employment or service creates a conflict of interest with or impairs the proper discharge of
official Corporation duties. In the event such a conflict arises with respect to a director, (s)he
shall notify the Chairman of the Corporation of same and withdraw from participation in any
Corporation process with respect thereto.

(i)

Future employment. For a period of one (1) year after the termination of service or employment
with the Corporation, no former officer, staff or director, on his or her own behalf, or as a staff
member, director, agent or representative of another may apply to or appear before or conduct
business with respect to the Corporation in any matter concerning which he or she personally
rendered substantial services and made policy decisions during the period of his or her term of
office, service or employment by the Corporation. Said one (1) year prohibition may be waived
by the embers for good cause upon written application for such officer, staff or director. At the
expiration of the one (1) year period and thereafter, the former officer, staff or director shall
make prior disclosure in writing to the directors of the nature and extent of his/her Corporation
involvement with matters (s)he now seeks to address with the Corporation.

(i)

Offer of Employment. An officer, staff or director shall disclose in writing to the directors any
offer of employment received from any person, firm or corporation which, to the knowledge of
such officer, staff or director, is furnishing or seeking to furnish goods or services to the
Corporation, if such officer, staff or director has substantial involvement or responsibility for
policy making in securing such goods or services and if such officer, staff or director enters into
negotiations for such employment. Such disclosure must be made whether or not such offer and
negotiations are verbal or written and whether or not the offer is accepted.

Section 3.2.
All persons, firms, or corporations rendering services to the Corporation as contractors,
consultants, or in any other professional capacity, whether paid or unpaid, shall file an instrument with
the Corporation. Such instrument shall be in the form of a written affidavit and shall state that "the party
agrees that it has no interest and will not acquire are any interest, direct or indirect that would conflict in
any manner or degree with the performance of the services to be rendered to the Corporation." Such
instrument shall further state that "the party further agrees that, in the rendering of services to the
Corporation, no person having any such interest shall knowingly be employed by it." Filing of all or part of
such instrument may be waived by the directors for good cause upon written application.

Appendix E

PERFORMANCE GOALS

Public Authority's Mission Statement:
The Onondaga Civic Development Corporation supports the County of Onondaga government,
businesses, and not for profit corporations. It also serves as a facilitator of solutions for
governmental problems through its flexible and efficient statutory powers. OCDC uses available
financial and policy incentives to stimulate economic growth, lessen the burdens of
government, promote job creation and retention, generate prosperity, improve the quality of
life of residents, and encourage economic vibrancy. OCDC strives to provide local, convenient,
and economical financing opportunities for its constituents in Onondaga County. OCDC takes
pride in its understanding of local economic development opportunities, flexibility to meet
municipal needs, and fast response to ever changing economic development demands.
Date Adopted: January 10, 2013
List of Performance Goals:





To relieve and reduce unemployment, promote and provide for additional and
maximum employment while improving and maintaining job opportunities.
To lessen the burden of government and act in the public interest
To foster the creation, retention and expansion of jobs and economic opportunities for
the benefit of the County, State and local economies
To provide a local, convenient and more economical financing opportunity for not-for
profit organizations.

Additional questions:
1. Have the board members acknowledged that they have read and understood the mission
of the public authority?
Yes
2. Who has the power to appoint the management of the public authority?
The voting board members shall appoint officers at the Corporation’s annual meeting.
3. If the Board appoints management, do you have a policy you follow when appointing the
management of the public authority?
The Corporation’s by-laws serve as the policy for appointing management.

4. Briefly describe the role of the Board and the role of management in the implementation
of the mission.
Corporation contract staff is responsible for the administration and management of the
Corporation’s programs and policies, and satisfaction of all statutory requirements. The
Board sets all policies and programs through majority approval of the Board.
5. Has the Board acknowledged that they have read and understood the responses to each
of these questions?
Yes, the performance measurement report was presented to the Board for approval at the
March 8, 2017 meeting.
FISCAL YEAR 2018 REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROLS
CORPORATION ACTION
Corporation Capital Projects


Project review



SEQRA
Determination



Public Hearing



Project Inducement

 Benefit Oversight
(Bond Financing)

CONTROL




Statute
Regulation
By-Laws





Statute
Regulation
By-Laws





Statute
Regulation
By-Laws




Statute
Regulation





Statute
Regulation
Corporation Policies

CONTROL PROCESS






















Written Application
Staff Review
Board Attorney Oversight
Board Review & Approval
Conflict of Interest Statement
Formal EAF Statement
Staff Review
Attorney Review
Board Review & Finding
Board Approval
Written Minutes
Report on Public Hearing at Board
Meeting
Written Application
Staff Review
Board Attorney Oversight
Finance Committee Review &
Approval
Board Review & Approval
Staff Review
President/CEO Oversight
Board Review & Approval of
Annual Reporting
Comptroller/ABO review

FINDING

Adequate

Adequate

Adequate

Adequate

Adequate





Corporation Service
Contracts

Corporation Fees




Procurement Policy
Economic Growth
Fund Guidelines












Review by Staff
Attorney Review
Governance Committee Review &
Approval
Board Review & Approval
Service Contract Agreements
Annual Audit of Expenditures
Staff Review
Attorney Review
Board Review & Approval
Annual Audit





Regulation
Project Fee Policy
Legal Fee Policy










Statute
Regulation
Foil Policy
Corporation By-Laws
Corporation Policies
Statute
Regulations
Corporation By-Laws




Annual Election of FOIL Officer
Annual Election of FOIL Appeals
Officer



Publication of Hearing/Meeting
Notices
Written Record of Proceedings
Report Public Comments to Board
for each Project





Statute
Corporation By-Laws
Corporation Policies








Statute
Conflict of Interest
Policy
Corporation Code of
Ethics

Adequate

Adequate

Public Access


Documents &
Administration



Public Comment




Adequate

Adequate

Corporation Administration


Understanding of
Mission, Goals,
Process & Controls



Ethics & Conflict of
Interests



PAAA Training
New Member Orientation
Annual Acknowledgement of
Responsibilities
Corporation Handbook - Reference
Material for Board
 Annual Conflicts
Acknowledgement
 Conflict Statement for each
project prior to Inducement
 Whistle Blower Officer

Adequate

Adequate

Agency Finances


Financial Planning &
Expenditures






Statute
Regulation
Agency Policies
Procurement Policy










Financial Safeguards





Statute
Procurement Policy
Travel Policy




Annual Budget
Annual Audit
County Contract for Services
Board Monthly Review of Finances
Board Approval of Monthly
Payment of Bills
Signature Authority and Two
Signature for all expenditures

Adequate

Approval of Board of all
expenditures
Approval of County officer of
shared expenditures for travel

Adequate

Appendix F
Four-Year Financial Report

OCDC Budget
A. Corporation/OED Operational Expenses
Onondaga County Contract
Marketing
Legal Services
Accounting Services
Annual Audit
Office Expenses
Meeting Expenses
Rent
Insurance (D&O and Business Owner Policy)
Other Expenses
Sub-Total Operational Expenses
B. Corporation Program Expenses
Economic Growth Program
Sub-Total Program Expenses
Total Operational and Program Expenses
II. Revenue
Project Fees
Interest Income
Rent
Property Administration
Total Revenue
Projected Gain or Loss

2019
$200,000
$15,000
$10,000
$0
$5,000
$6,000
$1,000
$123,018
$5,000
$10,000
$375,018

2020
$200,000
$15,000
$10,000
$0
$5,000
$6,000
$1,000
$123,018
$5,000
$10,000
$375,018

2021
$200,000
$15,000
$10,000
$0
$5,000
$6,000
$1,000
$123,018
$5,000
$10,000
$375,018

2022
$200,000
$15,000
$10,000
$0
$5,000
$6,000
$1,000
$123,018
$5,000
$10,000
$375,018

$100,000
$100,000
$475,018

$100,000
$100,000
$475,018

$100,000
$100,000
$475,018

$100,000
$100,000
$475,018

$400,018
$10,000
$65,000
$0
$475,018
$0

$400,018
$10,000
$65,000
$0
$475,018
$0

$400,018
$10,000
$65,000
$0
$475,018
$0

$400,018
$10,000
$65,000
$0
$475,018
$0

Appendix G
Revenue & Expense Detail
See Complied Financial Statements for 2018

Appendix H
Assets & Liabilities Detail
See Complied Financial Statements for 2018

Appendix I
Bond, Legal and Audit Data 2018
Schedule of Bonds and Notes Outstanding

Project Code

None
None
None
None

Name of Project
LeMoyne College
Upstate Properties Dev.,
Inc.
LeMoyne College 2012
YMCA of Greater
Syracuse, Inc.
Jewish Home of CNY, Inc.

None
None
None
None
None

Outstanding at End of
Fiscal Year

$25,000,000
$29,350,000
$17,030,000
$17,000,000
$18,145,000

LeMoyne College 2015
OCC HDC 2015
Dig Safely New York LLC
LeMoyne Collge 2018

Appendix J
Pending Litigation
No pending litigation

$15,000,000
$24,345,000
$6,000,000
$12,945,000

APPENDIX K
Description of the total amounts of assets, services or both assets and services bought or
sold without competitive bidding
None

Competitively Bid Professional Services
Total Amount of Assets and/or Services Paid For By the Corporation in 2018
Type of Asset/ Service
Amount of Service
Audit Services provided by Grossman St. Amour
$4,800
CPAs
Legal Services provided by Harris Beach , PLLC
$6,432

APPENDIX L
§ 1411. Local Development Corporations.
(a) Purposes.
This section shall provide an additional and alternate method of incorporation or reincorporation of
not-for-profit corporations for any of the purposes set forth in this paragraph and shall not be deemed to alter,
impair or diminish the purposes, rights, powers or privileges of any corporation heretofore or hereafter
incorporated under this section or under the stock or business corporation laws. Corporations may be
incorporated or reincorporated under this section as not-for-profit local development corporations operated for
the exclusively charitable or public purposes of relieving and reducing unemployment, promoting and providing
for additional and maximum employment, bettering and maintaining job opportunities, instructing or training
individuals to improve or develop their capabilities for such jobs, carrying on scientific research for the
purpose of aiding a community or geographical area by attracting new industry to the community or area or
by encouraging the development of, or retention of, an industry in the community or area, and lessening the
burdens of government and acting in the public interest, and any one or more counties, cities, towns or villages
of the state, or any combination thereof, or the New York job development authority in exercising its power
under the public authorities law to encourage the organization of local development corporations, may cause
such corporations to be incorporated by public officers or private individuals or reincorporated upon compliance
with the requirements of this section, and it is hereby found, determined and declared that in carrying out said
purposes and in exercising the powers conferred by paragraph (b) such corporations will be performing an
essential governmental function.
(b) Type of corporation.
A local development corporation is a Type C corporation under this chapter.
(c) Powers.
In furtherance of its purposes set forth in paragraph (a) but not for any other purposes, a local
development corporation incorporated or reincorporated under this section shall have the following powers: to
construct, acquire, rehabilitate and improve for use by others industrial or manufacturing plants in the
territory in which its operations are principally to be conducted, to assist financially in such construction,
acquisition, rehabilitation and improvement, to maintain such plants for others in such territory, to
disseminate information and furnish advice, technical assistance and liaison with federal, state and local
authorities with respect thereto, to acquire by purchase, lease, gift, bequest, devise or otherwise real or
personal property or interests therein, to borrow money and to issue negotiable bonds, notes and other
obligations therefor, and notwithstanding section 510 (Disposition of all or substantially all assets) without leave
of the court, to sell, lease, mortgage or otherwise dispose of or encumber any such plants or any of its real or
personal property or any interest therein upon such terms as it may determine and, in connection with loans
from the New York job development authority, to enter into covenants and agreements and to comply with
all the terms, conditions and provisions thereof, and otherwise to carry out its corporate purposes and to
foster and encourage the location or expansion of industrial or manufacturing plants in the territory in which
the operations of such corporation are principally to be conducted, provided, however, that no such
corporation shall attempt to influence legislation by propaganda or otherwise, or participate or intervene,
directly or indirectly, in any political campaign on behalf of or in opposition to any candidate for public office.
(d) Purchase or lease of real property owned by a county, city, town or village.
(1) The local legislative body of a county, city, town or village or, if there is a board of estimate in a
city, then the board of estimate, may by resolution determine that specifically described real property owned by
the county, city, town or village is not required for use by such county, city, town or village and authorize the
county, city, town or village to sell or lease such real property to a local development corporation incorporated
or reincorporated under this article; provided, however, that title to such land be not declared inalienable as a
forest preserve or a parkland.
(2) Notwithstanding the provisions of any general, special or local law, charter or ordinance to the
contrary, such sale or lease may be made without appraisal, public notice, (except as provided in

subparagraph (4)) or public bidding for such price or rental and upon such terms as may be agreed upon
between the county, city, town or village and said local development corporation; provided, however, that in
case of a lease the term may not exceed ninety-nine years and provided, further, that in cities having a
population of one million or more, no such sale or lease shall be made without the approval of a majority of the
members of the borough improvement board of the borough in which such real property is located.
(3) Before any sale or lease to a local development corporation incorporated or reincorporated
under this article shall be authorized, a public hearing shall be held by the local legislative body, or by the board
of estimate, as the case may be, to consider the proposed sale or lease.
(4) Notice of such hearing shall be published at least ten days before the date set for the hearing in
such publication and in such manner as may be designated by the local legislative body, or the board of
estimate as the case may be.
(5) A local development corporation, incorporated or reincorporated under this section, which
purchases or leases real property from a county, city, town or village, shall not, without the written approval of
the county, city, town or village, use such real property for any purpose except the purposes set forth in the
certificate of incorporation or reincorporation of said local development corporation. In the event such real
property is used in violation of the restrictions of this paragraph, the attorney-general may bring an action or
special proceeding to enjoin the unauthorized use.
(e) Certificate of incorporation.
In addition to the requirements of section 402 (Certificate of incorporation; contents) the
certificate of incorporation or reincorporation of a local development corporation incorporated or
reincorporated under this article shall state (1) that all income and earnings of such corporation shall be used
exclusively for its corporate purposes or accrue and be paid to the New York job development authority, (2)
that no part of the income or earnings of such corporation shall inure to the benefit or profit of, nor shall
any distribution of its property or assets be made to any member or private person, corporate or individual, or
any other private interest, except that the certificate of incorporation or reincorporation may authorize the
repayment of loans and may also authorize the repayment of contributions (other than dues) to the local
development corporation but only if and to the extent that any such contribution may not be allowable as a
deduction in computing taxable income under the internal revenue code of nineteen hundred fifty-four, (3)
that if such corporation accepts a mortgage loan or loans from the New York job development authority,
such corporation shall be dissolved in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (g) upon the repayment or
other discharge in full by such corporation of all such loans.
(f) Exemption of income from taxation.
The income and operations of corporations incorporated or reincorporated under this section
shall be exempt from taxation.
(g) Dissolution.
Upon the dissolution of any local development corporation incorporated or reincorporated under this
section no member or private person, corporate or individual, or other private interest, shall be entitled to any
distribution or division of its remaining funds and other property and rights and interests in property, and the
balance thereof, after the payment of all debts and liabilities of the corporation of whatsoever kind and nature,
(including the payment of loans and contributions the repayment of which has been authorized in its
certificate of incorporation or reincorporation) shall be distributed to one or more counties, cities, towns or
villages within the territory designated in its certificate of incorporation or reincorporation as the territory in
which its operations are principally to be conducted, for furtherance of the purposes set forth in paragraph (a),
or to the New York job development authority, as shall be provided by said corporation or by order of the
supreme court of the state of New York pursuant to section 1008 (Jurisdiction of supreme court to supervise
dissolution and liquidation).
(h) Corporations heretofore incorporated.
Any corporation heretofore incorporated under the membership corporations law or this
chapter, or under the stock or business corporation law for any of the purposes set forth in paragraph (a) of
this section may amend its certificate of incorporation and be reincorporated as a local development
corporation organized under this section by making and filing in the office of the secretary of state a certificate,
stating the name of such corporation, and, if it has been changed, the name under which it was originally
incorporated, the date of its incorporation, the names and post-office addresses of its members or of the holders

of record of all of the outstanding shares of such corporation entitled to vote with relation to the proceedings
provided for in the certificate and that such corporation has elected to become and be a local development
corporation organized and operated under and by virtue of this section. Such certificate shall be either (1)
subscribed in person or by proxy by all of the members or the holders of record of all of the outstanding shares of
such corporation entitled to vote with relation to such proceedings and shall have annexed an affidavit of the
secretary or an assistant secretary that the persons who have executed the certificate, in person or by proxy,
constitute all of the members or the holders of record of all of the outstanding shares of the corporation entitled
to vote with relation to the proceedings provided for in the certificate, or (2) subscribed by the president or a
vice president and the secretary or an assistant secretary and shall have annexed an affidavit of such officers
stating that they have been authorized to execute and file such certificate by the votes, cast in person or by
proxy, of all of the members or of the holders of record of all of the outstanding shares of such corporation
entitled to vote with relation to such proceedings at the meeting at which such votes were cast, and that such
votes were cast at a meeting of members or stockholders held on a date specified, upon notice pursuant to
section 605 (Notice of meeting of members) or to section 605 of the Business Corporation Law. Every certificate
filed under this paragraph shall have endorsed thereon or annexed thereto the approval of a justice of the
supreme court of the judicial district in which the office of the corporation is to be located. A
reincorporation pursuant to this paragraph shall not effect a dissolution of the corporation, but shall be deemed
a continuation of its corporate existence, without affecting its then existing property rights or liabilities, or the
liabilities of its members or officers as such, but thereafter it shall have only such rights, powers and privileges,
and be subject only to such other duties and liabilities, as a corporation created for the same purposes under
this article.
(i) Effect of section.
Corporations incorporated or reincorporated under this section shall be organized and operated
exclusively for the purposes set forth in paragraph (a), shall have, in addition to the powers otherwise conferred
by law, the powers conferred by paragraph (c) and shall be subject to all the restrictions and limitations
imposed by paragraph (e) and paragraph (g). In so far as the provisions of this section are inconsistent with
the provisions of any other law, general or special, the provisions of this section shall be controlling as to
corporations incorporated or reincorporated hereunder.
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Committee Members & Staff
Matthew Marko (Chair)
Mike LaFlair, Director
James W. Jordon, Director
Ben Dublin, Director
Julie Cerio, President / Chief Executive Officer
Brian Bartlett, Secretary / Public Hearing Officer
Nate Stevens, Treasurer
Purpose of the Committee
The purpose of the Governance Committee is to keep the Board informed of current best
governance practices, review corporate governance trends, update the corporate governance
principles, and advise the Board on the skills and experience of potential Board members.
Meeting Schedule:
The committee met 2 times on:
1) October 17, 2018
2) November 8, 2018
Fiscal Year 2018
1. Annual Self-Evaluation:
The committee conducted a self-evaluation. It found 0 issues. The Governance Committee will
present the evaluation to the full board at the 2019 Annual Meeting.
2. Charter Review:
The Committee reviewed the Audit, Finance, and Governance Charters on October 17, 2018. It
was satisfied with the charter. The Committee will present its findings to the Agency Board at
the 2019 Annual Meeting.
3. Disposition of Duties:
The Committee reviewed its self-evaluation, OCDC staff evaluation, OCDC board evaluation,
committee evaluations and the committee annual report at the, November 8, 2018 meeting.

